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T'his book is the first full-length historical study of
the birth of the Palestinian refugee problem. Based
on recently declassified Israeli, British and
American state and party political papers and on
collections of hitherto untapped private papers, it
traces the stages of the 1947-9 exodus against the
backdrop of the first Arab-Israeli war and analyses
the varied causes of the flight. The Jewish and
Arab decision-making involved, on national and
local levels, military and political, is described and
explained, as is the crystallisation of Israel’s
decision to bar a refugee repatriation. The exodus
from Haifa and Jaffa (April-May 1948) and the
expulsion from Lydda and Ramle (July 1948), as
well as the flight of the rural communities of
Upper Galilee and the northern Negev approaches
(October—November 1948) and the Israeli border-
clearing operations of November 1948 to July
1949, are described in detail. The subsequent fate
of the abandoned Arab villages, lands and urban
neighbourhoods — destruction or resettlement by
Jewish immigrants — is examined. The study looks
at the international context of the first Israeli-Arab
war and the struggle, in Washington, London and
the UN, over efforts to repatriate or resettle the
refugees, ending with the talks at Lausanne which
effectively sealed the refugees’ fate.

Throughout, the book attempts to describe what
happened, rather than what successive generations
of Israeli and Arab propagandists have said
happened, and to analyse, on the basis of
documentation, the motives of the protagonists.
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Key to Map 2

In the Key, the following codes are used for decisive causes of abandonment:

Expulsion by Jewish forces
Abandonment on Arab orders

gzmem

obtaining an Arab evacuation)

0O

Fear of Jewish attack or of being caught up in the fighting
Military assault on the settlement by Jewish troops
Haganah/IDF “whispering” campaigns (i.e., psychological warfare geared to

Influence of fall of, or exodus from, neighbouring town

The lines between C, F and M are somewhat blurred. It is often difficult to distinguish
between the flight of villagers because of reports of the fall of or flight from
neighbouring settlements, flight because of fears of being “next” or flight due to the
approach of a Haganah/IDF column. I have generally ascribed the flight of inhabitants
on the path of an Israeli military advance to M even though some of the villagers may
have already taken to their heels upon hearing of the fall of a neighbouring village

(which could go under C or F).

Similarly, the line between M and E is occasionally blurred.

Galilee panhandle

1 Abil al Qamh - F, C, 10 May 1948
2 Zugq al Faugani — W, M, 21 May
1948
3 Shauqa at Tahta — F, 14 May 1948
4 As Sanbariya — May 1948 (?)
5 Khisas — W, C, 25 May 1948
6 Hunin - F, 3 May 1948
7 Al Mansura — W, 25 May 1948
8 Lazzaza — W, 21 May 1948
9 Zuq at Tahtani — C, 11 May 1948
10 Al Khalisa - C, W, 11 May 1948
11 Al Madahil - F, 30 April 1948
12 Qeitiya — W, 19 May 1948
13 Al ‘Abisiya - C, 25 May 1948
14 Dawwara — W, 25 May 1948
15 As Salihiya - F, W, 25 May 1948
16 Al Muftakhira — F, 16 May 1948
17 Az Zawiya — M, 24 May 1948
18 Al Buweiziya — C, 11 May 1948
19 An Na'ima - C, 14 May 1948
20 Al Hamra — F, M, 1 May 1948
21 Ghuraba - F, 28 May 1948
22 Khirbet Khiyam al Walid — F, 1 May
1948
23 Jahula - May 1948 (?)
24 Qadas - C, 28 May 1948
25 Al Malikiya — M, 28 May 1948
26 Nabi Yusha - M, 16 May 1948
27 Beisamun - W, 25 May 1948
28 Mallaha — W, 25 May 1948
29 Ad Darbashiya — May 1948 (?)

Xiv

Upper Galilee

30 Al 'Ulmaniya - M, 20 April 1948

31 'Arab Zubeid - F, 20 April 1948

32 Deishum — M, 30 October 1948

33 ‘Alma — M, 30 October 1948

34 Saliha — M, 30 October 1948

35 Fara — M, 30 October 1948

36 Al Huseiniya — C, 21 April 1948

37 Tuleil — late April 1948 (?)

38 Kafr Bir'im - E, early November
1948

39 Ras al Ahmar — M, 30 October 1948

40 Dallata — not known

41 Marus — C, 26 May 1948 and M, 30
October 1948

42 Kirad al Ghannama — C, 22 April 1948
(later resettled and abandoned)

43 Kirad al Bagqara — C, 22 April 1948
(later resettled and abandoned)

44 Teitaba — May 1948 (?)

45 Safsaf — M/E, 29 October 1948

46 Qaddita — C, 11 May 1948

47 Ammuqga - M, 24 May 1948

48 Qabba’a — M, 26 May 1948

49 Weiziya — May 1948 (?)

50 Mughr al Kheit - M, 2 May 1948

51 Fir'im — M, 26 May 1948

52 Ja'una - C, 9 May 1948

53 'Ein az Zeitun - M, 2 May 1948

54 Biriya — M, 2 May 1948

55 (Arab) Safad - M, 10-11 May 1948

56 Meirun — (?) G, (?) 10-12 May 1948




§7 Sammu'i — C, 12 May 1948

58 Dhahiriya Tahta — C, 10 May 1948

59 Mansurat al Kheit - M, 18 January
1948

60 Sa’sa — M/E, 30 October 1948

61 Ghabbatiya — (?), 30 October 1948

62 Sabalan — (?), 30 October 1948

63 Deir al Qasi — M, 30 October 1948

64 Suhmata — M, 30 October 1948

65 Al Mansura — E, early November
1948

66 Tarbikha — E, early November 1948

67 Suruh - E, early November 1948

68 Nabi Rubin — E, early November
1948

69 Iqrit — E, early November 1948

70 Farradiya — E, February 1949

71 Kafr I'nan — E, February 1949

72 Ash Shuna - Not known

73 Yaquq — May 1948 (?)

74 Al Qudeiriya — M/E, 4 May 1948

75 'Arab as Suyyad — (?) M/E, 4 May
1948

76 Zanghariya — M/E, 4 May 1948

77 'Arab ash Shamalina - M/E, 4 May
1948

Western Galilee

78 Al Bassa — M/E, 14 May 1948

79 Az Zib — M, 14 May 1948

80 At Tell - M, 21 May 1948

81 Al Kabri — F, M, 5, 21 May 1948
82 An Nahr - M, 21 May 1948

83 Umm al Faraj — M, 21 May 1948
84 Al Ghabisiya — E, May 1948; E, 1949
85 Amga — M, 10-11 July 1948

86 Kuweikat — M, 10 July 1948

87 As Sumeiriya — M, 14 May 1948
88 Manshiya — M, 14 May 1948

89 Al Birwa — M, 11 June 1948 (?)
90 Ad Damun - M, 15-16 July 1948
91 Ar Ruweis — M, 15-16 July 1948

Lower Galilee, Jordan, Jezreel and Beit
Shean valleys

92 Majdal - M, C, 22 April 1948

93 Ghuweir Abu Shusha — C, 21 and 28
April 1948

94 Hittin — F, M, 16-17 July 1948

95 Nimrin - (?) F, M, 16-17 July 1948

96 Lubiya — F, M, 16~17 July 1948

97 Khirbet Nasir ad Din - M, G, F, 12
and 23 April 1948

98 (Arab) Tiberias — M, 18 April 1948

99 Khirbet al Manara — M, early March
1948

100 Ash Shajara — M, 6 May 1948

ro1 Kafr Sabt — C, 22 April 1948

102 As Samra — C, 21 April 1948

103 Samakh — M, 28 April 1948

104 Al 'Ubeidiya — F, 5 March 1948

105 Ma'dhar — A, 6 April 1948

106 Hadatha — A, 6 April 1948

107 ‘Ulam - A, 6 April 1948

108 Sirin — A, 6 April 1948

109 At Tira — W, 15 April 1948

110 Indur — C, M, 24 May 1948

111 Danna - E, 28 May 1948

112 Al Bira - C, 16 May 1948

113 Yubla — C, 16 May 1948

114 Jabbul — C/F, 18 May 1948

115 Kaukab al Hawa - M, 16 May 1948

116 ‘Arab as Subeih — C, 19 April 1948

117 Al Murassas — C, 16 May 1948

118 Kafra — C, 16 May 1948

119 Al Hamidiya — C, 12 May 1948

120 Qumiya — F, 26 March 1948

121 Zir'in — M, 28 May 1948

122 Al Mazar — M, 30 May 1948

123 Nuris — M/E, 29-30 May 1948

124 Khirbet al Jaufa — (?) C, 12 May 1948

125 Tall ash Shauk - (?) C, 12 May 1948

126 Beisan — M, C, 12 May 1948

127 Al Ashrafiya — (?) C, 12 May 1948

128 Farwana - M, 11 May 1948

129 As Samiriya — M, 27 May 1948

130 Al ‘Arida — C, 20 May 1948

131 ‘Arab al Khuneizir — C, 20 May 1948

132 ‘Arab al Safa — C, 20 May 1948

133 ‘Arab az Zarra’a — (?) C, 20 May 1948

134 ‘Arab al Ghazawiya — (?) C, 20 May
1948

135 ‘Arab al Bawati — (?) C, 16 or 20 May
1948

136 ‘Arab al Bashatwi — C, 16 May 1948

137 Al Mujeidil - M, 15 July 1948

138 Ma'lul — M, 15 July 1948

139 Saffuriya — M, 16 July 1948

140 Beit Lahm — M, April 1948

141 Waldheim (Umm al ‘Amad) - M,
April 1948

142 Khirbet Ras ‘Ali — Not known

143 Yajur - M, C, 25 April 1948

144 Balad ash Sheikh — M, C, 25 April
1948

145 ‘Arab Ghawarina — (?) W, M, mid-
April 1948

XV



Hills of Ephraim ( Ramot Menashe) and
Mishmar Ha'emek area

146 Wadi ‘Ara — F, 27 February 1948

147 Lajjun — M, 30 May 1948 (?)

148 Al Mansi (‘Arab Baniha) - M, 12-13
April 1948

149 An Naghnaghiya — M, 12-13 April
1948

150 Ghubaiya al Fauga - M, 8-9 April
1948

151 Ghubaiya al Tahta - M, 8-9 April
1948

152 Abu Shusha — M, 9-10 April 1948

153 Abu Zureiq — M, 12-13 April 1948

154 Qira wa Qamun — W, (?) late March
1948

155 Al Kafrin — M, 12-13 April 1948

156 Al Buteimat — F, (?) May 1948

157 Umm ash Shauf - M, 12-14 May
1948

158 Khubbeiza - M, 12-14 May 1948

159 Sabbarin - M, 12-14 May 1948

160 As Sindiyana — M, 12-14 May 1948

161 Bureika — C, § May 1948

162 Daliyat ar Ruha — W/M, late March
1948

163 Ar Rihaniya — Not known

164 Umm az Zinat — Not known

165 Khirbet Qumbaza — May 1948 (?)

166 'Ein Ghazal — M, 24—26 July 1948

167 Ijzim — M, 24-26 July 1948

168 Jaba — M, 24-26 July 1948

169 Al Mazar — c.15 July 1948

170 'Ein Haud — c.15 July 1948

171 Qannir — C, F, 25 April 1948

Northern Coastal Plain

172 (Arab) Haifa — M, A, 21 April-1 May
1948

173 At Tira — M, 16 July 1948

174 As Sarafand - M, c.16 July 1948

175 Kafr Lam — M, ¢.16 July 1948

176 Tantura - M/E, 21 May 1948

177 Qisariya — E, 15 February 1948

178 Khirbet as Sarkas — E, 15 April 1948

179 Ad Dumeira — E, 10 April 1948

180 ‘Arab al Fuqgara — E, 10 April 1948

181 'Arab an Nufeiat — E, 10 April 1948

182 Wadi al Hawarith - M, F, 15 March
1948

183 Raml Zeita — Not known

xvi

184 Khirbet Manshiya — F, 15 April 1948

185 Khirbet Zalafa — F, 15 April 1948

186 Wadi Qabbani — Not known

187 Qaqun — M, 5 June 1948

188 Umm Khalid — Not known

189 Khirbet Beit Lid — F, 5 April 1948

190 Birket Ramadan — Not known

191 Miska — E, 15 April 1948

192 Tabsar (Khirbet ‘Azzun) - F, E, 3
April 1948

193 Kafr Saba — M, 15 May 1948

194 Biyar ‘Adas — M, 12 April 1948

195 Al Haram (Sidna 'Ali) - F, 3
February 1948

196 Jalil — F, 3 April 1948

197 ‘Arab Abu Kishk — F, C, 30 March
1948

198 'Arab as Sawalima — F, C, 30 March
1948

199 Al Mirr - F, February 1948

200 Sheikh Muwannis — M/F, 30 March
1948

201 Ras al 'Ein — M, 13 July 1948

202 Majdal Yaba — M, 13 July 1948

203 Fajja — W, 15 May 1948

204 Jammasin — F, 17 March 1948

205 Al Mas'udiya (Summeil) - F, 25
December 1947

206 Sarona — Not known

207 Jaffa — M, late April-early May 1948

Lower Coastal Plain and northern Negev
approaches

208 Salama — M, 25 April 1948

209 Al Kheiriya — M, 25 April 1948

210 Al Mugzeiri‘'a — Not known

211 Qula — M, 10 July 1948

212 Rantiya - M, 28 April 1948; M, 10
July 1948

213 Al Yahudiya — M, 4 May 1948

214 Saqgiya — M, 25 April 1948

215 Yazur - C, M, 1 May 1948

216 At Tira — M, 10 July 1948

217 Wilhelma — M, 10 July 1948

218 Kafr ‘Ana — M, 25 April 1948

219 Beit Dajan — C, 25 April 1948

220 As Safiriya - Not known

221 Deir Tarif - M, 10 July 1948

222 Beit Nabala — A, 13 May 1948

223 Jindas — Not known

224 Al Haditha — M, 12 July 1948

225 Sarafand al "Amar — Not known




226 Lydda — E/M, 10-13 July 1948

227 Ramle — E/M, 10-13 July 1948

228 Deir Abu Salama - M, 13 July 1948

229 Khirbet adh Dhuheiriya — M, 10 July
1948

230 Jimzu — M, 10 July 1948

231 Khirbet Zakariya - M, c.12-13 July
1948

232 Daniyal - M, 10 July 1948

233 Abu al Fadl - C, 9 May 1948

234 Sarafand al Kharab — F, 20 April
1948

235 Shilta — M, 15-16 July 1948

236 Al Burj — M, 15-16 July 1948

237 Bir Ma'in - M, 15-16 July 1948

238 Beit Shanna — (?) M, 15-16 July 1948

239 Salbit — M, 15-16 July 1948

240 Al Qubab - M, 15 May 1948

241 Barfiliya — M, 14 July 1948

242 Kharruba — M, 12-15 July 1948

243 Al Kunaisiya — M, 10 July 1948

244 'Innaba — M, 10 July 1948

245 Al Barriya — M, 10-13 July 1948

246 Abu Shusha - M, 14 May 1948

247 Na'ana - F, 14 May 1948

248 Bir Salim — M, 9 May 1948

249 Wadi Hunein — C, 17 April 1948

250 Zarnuqa — E, 2728 May 1948

251 Al Qubeiba — E, 27-28 May 1948

252 ‘Aqir - M, 6 May 1948

253 An Nabi Rubin — E, 1 June 1948

254 'Arab Sukreir — M, 25 May 1948

255 Yibna — M/E, 4 June 1948

256 Al Mughar - M, 18 May 1948

257 Bash-Shit — M, 13 May 1948

258 Qatra — M, 17 May 1948

259 Seidun — Not known

260 Al Mansura — M, 20 April 1948

261 Khulda — M, 6 April 1948

262 Shahma - C, 14 May 1948

263 Al Mukheizin — M, 20 April 1948

264 Sajad — Not known

265 Qazaza — C, 9-10 July 1948

266 Jilya — C, 9—10 July 1948

267 Al Kheima — Not known

268 Huraniya — Not known

269 At Tina — M, 8—9 July 1948

270 Idhnibba — C, 9-10 July 1948

271 Mughallis — C, g—10 July 1948

272 Bureij — Not known

273 Masmiya al Kabira — M, 8—9 July
1948

274 Masmiya as Saghira - M, 8—9 July
1948

275 Qastina — M, ¢.9 July 1948

276 Tall at Turmus — Not known

277 Yasur — Not known

278 Batani Sharqgi — M, 13 May 1948
279 Batani Gharbi — (?) M, 13 May 1948
280 Barga - M, 13 May 1948

281 Isdud — M, 28 October 1948

282 Beit Daras — M, 11 May 1948

283 Sawafir ash Shamaliya — F, 18 May

1948

284 Sawafir al Gharbiya — F, 18 May
1948

285 Sawafir ash Sharqiya — (?) F, 18 May
1948

286 Hamama — M, 4 November 1948

287 Julis — M, 11 June 1948

288 ‘Ibdis — M, 8—9 July 1948

289 Jaladiya — Not known

290 Bi'lin — Not known

291 Barqusiya — Not known

292 Tall as Safi - M, 9—10 July 1948

293 Deir ad Dubban — M, 23-24 October
1948

294 'Ajjur — M, 23-24 July 1948

295 Zakariya — E, June 1950

296 Ra'na — M, 22-23 October 1948

297 Zikrin — M, 22—23 October 1948

298 Summeil — Not known

299 Zeita — M, 17-18 July 1948

300 Juseir — M, 17-18 July 1948

301 Hatta — M, 17-18 July 1948

302 Karatiya — M, 17-18 July 1948

303 Beit ‘Affa — Not known

304 Kaukaba — C, 12 May 1948

305 Beit Tima — M, 18-19 October 1948

306 Al Majdal (Ashkelon) - M, 4-5
November 1948; 1951

307 Al Jura — M, 4-5 November 1948

308 Khirbet Khisas - M, 4-5 November
1948

309 Ni‘ilya — M, 4-5 November 1948

310 Barbara — M, 4-5 November 1948

311 Al Jiya — M, 4—5 November 1948

312 Beit Jirja — Not known

313 Deir Suneid — Not known

314 Dimra — Not known

315 Najd - E, 12 May 1948

316 Sumsum — E, 12 May 1948

317 Huleigat — C, 12 May 1948

318 Bureir — M, 12 May 1948

319 Al Faluja — E, February—March 1949

320 ‘Iraq al Manshiya — E, February—
March 1949

321 Kidna — M, 22-23 October 1948

322 Beit Jibrin — M, 29 October 1948

323 Al Qubeiba — M, 28 October 1948

324 Ad Dawayima — E/M, 29 October
1948
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325 Deir Nakh-khas — M, 29 October
1948
326 Khirbet Umm Burj — Not known

Ferusalem corridor

327 Deir Muheisin — M, 6 April 1948

328 Beit Jiz — M, 20 April 1948

329 Beit Susin — M, 20 April 1948

330 ‘Islin — M, 18 July 1948

331 Ishwa — M, 18 July 1948

332 Sar'a— M, 18 July 1948

333 Deir Rafat — M, 18 July 1948

334 ‘Artuf — M, 18 July 1948

335 Deiraban — M, 19—20 October 1948

336 Beit Mahsir — M, 10-11 May 1948

337 Deir Ayub — M, April 1948

338 Kasla — M, 17-18 July 1948

339 Deir al Hawa — M, 19—20 October
1948

340 Sufla - M, 19—20 October 1948

341 Jarash — M, 21 October 1948

342 Beit Nattif — M, 21 October 1948

343 Beit 'Itab — M, 21 October 1948

344 Beit Umm al Meis — (?) M, 21
October 1948

345 Saris — M, 16-17 April 1948

346 Allar — M, 22 October 1948

347 Ras Abu ‘Ammar — M, 21 October
1948

Key to Map 3

348 Al Qabu - M, 22-23 October 1948

349 Al Walaja — M, 21 October 1948

350 Khirbet al ‘'Umur - (?) M, 21
October 1948

351 Deir ash Sheikh — (?) M, 21 October
1948

352 'Aqqur — M, 13-14 July 1948

353 Suba — M, 13 July 1948

354 Sataf — M, 13-14 July 1948

355 Al Jura — Not known

356 Al Qastal - M, 3 April 1948

357 Beit Nagquba — M, early April 1948

358 Beit Thul — Not known

359 Qaluniya — M, 3 April 1948

360 'Ein Karim ~ C, 10 and 21 April
1948; M, 16 July 1948

361 Al Maliha — C, 21 April 1948; M, 15
July 1948

362 Deir Yassin — M/E, 910 April 1948

363 Lifta — M, January 1948

Negev

364 Jammama — M, 22 May 1948

365 'Arab al Jubarat — Not known

366 Huj — E, 31 May 1948

367 Al Muharraqa — M, 25 May 1948
368 Kaufakha — M, 25 May 1948

369 Beersheba — M/E, 21 October 1948

The Hebrew name of the settlement is given first, followed by the former Arab name of
the site or nearest site and the date of the settlement’s establishment.

1 Beith Lehem Hag'lilit — Beit Lahm —
April 1948

2 Sheluhot — Al Ashrafiya — June 1948

3 Reshafim — Al Ashrafiya — June 1948

4 Ramot-Menashe — Daliyat ar Ruha —
July 1948

5 Bama’avak (Ma'avak, Alonei Abba) —
Waldheim — May 1948

6 Brur Hayil — Bureir — May 1948

7 Shomrat — south of As Sumeiriya —
May 1948

8 Hahotrim — north of At Tira — June
1948
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9 Nahsholim — Tantura — June 1948

10 Ein Dor — Kafr Misr - June 1948

11 Netzer (Sereni) — Bir Salim — June
1948

12 Timurim (Shimron) — Ma'lul — June
1948

13 Habonim (Kfar Hanassi) — Mansurat
al Kheit — July 1948

14 Yesodot — Umm Khalka — July 1948

15 Regavim — Buteimat (July 1948),
moved to Qannir — 1949

16 Yizra'el — Zir'in — August 1948

17 Gilbo'a — Zir'in — July 1948




18 Sa‘ar — Az Zib — August 1948

19 Be'erot Yirzhak — Wilhelma — August
1948

20 Bnei Atarot — Wilhelma — August
1948

21 Mahane Yisrael - Wilhelma — August
1948

22 Yiftah — near Jahula — August 1948

23 Nordiya — Khirbet Beit Lid — August
1948

24 Udim — Wadi Faliq — August 1948

25 Gazit — At Tira — September 1948

26 Azariya — Al Barriya — September
1948 (re-established 1949)

27 Hagoshrim — Al Mansura —
September 1948

28 Lehagshama (Beit Meir) — Beit
Mabhsir — September 1948 (re-
established 1950)

29 Ameilim — Abu Shusha — September
1948

30 Ga’aton — Khirbet Jiddin — October
1948

31 Kesalon — Kasla — October 1948 (re-
established 1952)

32 Tsova — Suba — October 1948

33 Harel — Beit Jiz — October 1948

34 Tal-Shahar — Khirbet Beit Far —
October 1948

35 Revadim — Al Kheima — November
1948

36 Bustan Hagalil - As Sumeiriya —
December 1948

37 Mishmar-David — Khulda -
December 1948

38 Tzor’'a — Sar’a — December 1948

39 Nurit — Nuris — 1948

40 Ramat Raziel — Beit Umm al Meis —
1948

41 Ge'alya — north of Yibna — 1948

42 Beit Elazari — south of 'Aqir — 1948

43 Kfar Eqron - 'Aqir - 1948

44 Shoresh — Saris — 1948

45 Beit Ha'emek — Kuweikat — January
1949

46 Netiva — Al Mukheizin ~ January
1949

47 Yas'ur — Al Birwa — January 1949

48 Betset Bet (Kfar Rosh Hanikra) —
near Al Bassa — January 1949

49 Sifsufa — Safsaf — January 1949

50 Mavki’'im — Barbara - January 1949

51 Sasa — Sa’sa — January 1949

52 Kabrita (Kabri) — Al Kabri - January
1949

53 Lohamei Hageta’'ot — As Sumeiriya —
January 1949

54 Beit Ha'arava (Gesher Haziv) — Az-
Zib — January 1949

55 Irgun Kaplan (Meggido) — Lajjun —
January 1949

56 T'kumah — Al Muharraqa — 1949

57 Migdal-Gad (Ashkelon) — Al Majdal
- 1949

58 Beit Nettef (Netiv Hal.amed-Heh) —
Beit Nattif — 1949

59 Al Qubeiba — Al Qubeiba - 1949 (re-
established as Lachish, 1955)

60 Gei'a — Al Jiya - 1949

61 Hodiya — Julis — 1949

62 Ein Tsurim (Deganim) — Sawafir al
Gharbiya - 1949

63 Massu’ot Yitzhak (Ein Tsurim) —
Sawafir as Sharqiya — 1949

64 Shafir (Massu’ot Yitzhak) — Sawafir
ash Shamaliya — 1949

65 Giv'ati — Beit Daras — 1949—50

66 Arugot — Tall at Turmus — 1949

67 Nehalim — southeast of Petah Tikva —
1948

68 Ginaton — east of Lydda — 1949

69 Azrikam — Batani Gharbi — 1949-50

70 Yehiel (Kfar Ahim) — Qastina — 1949

71 Keren-Re'em (Bnei Re‘em) —
Masmiya al Kabira — 1949

72 Masmiya Bet (Masmiya Shalom) —
Masmiya as Saghira — 1949

73 Kfar Daniel — Daniyal — 1949

74 Ganei-Yona — east of 'Aqir — 1949

75 Yavne — Yibna — 1949

76 Kidron — Qatra — 1949

77 Netivot — ‘Arab Sukreir — 1949

78 Eshta’ol — ‘Islin/Ishwa — 1949

79 Benaya — north of Bash-Shit — 1949

80 Beit Nekofa — Beit Naqubba - 1949

81 Ora — Al Jura — 1949-50

82 Manahat — Al Maliha - 1949

83 Beit Zayit — Khirbet Hureish — 1949

84 Mish’an (Mishmar Ayalon) — Al
Qubab - 1949

85 Kefar Hanaggid — Al Qubeiba — 1949

86 Hatsofim Dalet - An Nabi Rubin —
1949

87 Sitriya — Abu al Fadl - 1949

88 Hadid — Al Haditha - 1949

89 Nubalat (Beit Nehemia) — Beit
Nabala — 1949-50

90 Tsafriya — north of As Safiriya — 1949

91 Beit Dagan — Beit Dajan — 1948

92 Azor — Yazur — 1948

93 Abu Kabir — Abu Kabir — 1949

94 Beit Arif — Deir Tarif — 1949 (re-
established 1951)

95 Tirat-Yehuda — At Tira — 1949
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96 Yehud — Al Yahudiya — 1948
97 Rantiya — Rantiya — 1949
98 Mazor — Al Muzeiri‘a — 1949
99 Nahshonim — Majdal Yaba — 1949
100 Migdal-Yaffo — Majdal Yaba — 1949
101 Lehavot Haviva — west of Jatt — 1949
102 Kfar Truman — west Beit Nabala —
1949
103 Mishmar Hashiv'a — Beit Dajan —
1949
104 Magshimim — west of Rantiya — 1949
105 Yarhiv — east of Jaljuliya — 1949
106 Hak'ramim — Kafr Saba - 1949
107 Ein Kerem — ‘Ein Karim — 1949
108 Reshef — Al Haram (Sidna Ali) —
1949
109 Tabsar (Khirbet Azzun) ~ 1949
110 Neve-Yamin - south of Kafr Saba —
1949
111 Ometz — Qaqun — 1949
112 Olesh - south of Qaqun — 1949
113 Sharir — As Safiriya — 1949
114 Hagor — south of Jaljuliya — 1949
115 Zarnuga — Zarnuga — 1949
116 Talmei Yehiel — Masmiya al Kabira/
Qastina — 1949
117 Elyakim — Umm az Zinat - 1949
118 Ein Ayala — 'Ein Ghazal — 1949
119 Kerem Maharal — Ijzim — 1949
120 Geva-Carmel — Jaba — 1949
121 Habonim - Kafr Lam - 1949
122 Ramot Meir — west of Na‘ana — 1949
123 Ein Hod - ‘Ein Haud - 1949
124 Tsrufa — As Sarafand - 1949
125 Tel Hanan — Balad ash Sheikh — 1949
126 Barka'i — Wadi 'Ara — 1949
127 Giv'at Oz - Zalafa — 1949
128 Ma'agan Micha'el — Kabara — 1949
129 Alona (Amikam) — As Sindiyana —
1949-50
130 Nir Galim — "Arab Sukreir — 1949
131 Dishon — Deishum - date uncertain
but possibly 1949 (re-established
1953)
132 Porat — Fara — 1949
133 Shahar — near Safsaf — 1949
134 Nir Yisrael — west of Julis — 1949
135 Malkiya — Al Malikiya — 1949
136 Be'erotayim — Khirbet Burin — 1949
137 Burgta — Khirbert al Burj — 1949
138 Eyal — Khirbet Hanuta - 1949
139 Gan Yoshiya — south of Qaqun —
1949
140 Beit Gamliel — southeast of Yibna —
1949
141 Megadim - Bir Badawiya — 1949
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142 Lavi — Lubiya — 1949

143 Ha'on — As Samra - 1949

144 Ma'agan — Samakh - 1949

145 Beit Katzir (Tel Katzir) — east of
Samakh — 1949

146 Bashatwa (Neve-Ur) — Al Bashatiwa —
1949

147 Hasolelim — west of Saffuriya — 1949

148 Hayogev — Khirbet Beit Lid al
Awadim - 1949

149 Tsipori — Saffuriya — 1949

150 Amqa — ‘Amqa — 1949

151 Hayotzrim — Manshiya — 1949

152 Ben-Ami — An Nahr - 1949

153 Betset (Shlomi) — Al Bassa — 1949-50

154 Shomera — Tarbikha — 1949

155 Yoqrat — Igrit — 1949

156 Hossen — Sukhmata — 1949

157 Farod — Farradiya — 1949

158 Kfar Shamai — Sammu'i — 1949

159 Meiron — Meirun — 1949

160 Bar'am — Kafr Bir'im — 1949

161 Nir-On (Yiron) — Saliha — 1949-50

162 Alma — Alma — 1949

163 Beit She’an — Beisan — 1948

164 Erez — Dimra/Najd — 1949

165 Zikkim — Hirbiya — 1949

166 Beit Guvrin — Beit Jibrin — 1949

167 Beit Kama — southeast of Jammama —
1949

168 Beit Hagadi — south of Al Muharraqa
= 1949

169 Gilat — ‘Arab al Qudeirat — 1949

170 Tifrah — northeast of Khirbet Umm
al Khrum - 1949

171 Beit Re'im — ‘Arab al Hanajira — 1949

172 Magen — Sheikh Nuran - 1949

173 Mefalsim — southeast of Beit Hanun -
1949

174 Omer — east of Khirbet ‘Amra — 1949

175 Ein Hash’losha — east of Khan Yunis
- 1949

176 Nirim — east of Khan Yunis — 1949

177 Mash’a’bei Sadeh — east of Bir Asluj
— 1949

178 Poriya — south of Tiberias — 1949

179 Sdeh Ilan — Kafr Sabt — 1949

180 Arbel — Khirbet Irbid — 1949

181 Elifelet — "Arab Zanghariya — 1949

182 Alkosh — Deir al Qasi — 1949

183 Kerem Ben-Zimra — Ras al Ahmar -
1949

184 Tzahal — north of Az Zib - 1949

185 Me'una — Tarshiha — 1949

186 Doar — Tantura — 1949




Introduction

This study sets out to describe the birth of the Palestinian refugee
problem which, along with the establishment of the State of Israel, was the
major political consequence of the 1948 war. It will examine how and why,
over December 1947 to September 1949, some 600,000—-760,000 Palestin-
ian Arabs became refugees and why they remained refugees in the
immediate post-war period.

The Palestinian refugee problem and its consequences have shaken
the Middle East and acutely troubled the world for the past four decades.
The question of what caused the refugees to become refugees has been a
fundamental propaganda issue between Israel and the Arab states for just
as long. The general Arab claim, that the Jews expelled Palestine’s Arabs,
with predetermination and preplanning, as part of a grand political-
military design, has served to underline the Arab portrayal of Israel as a
vicious, immoral robber state. The Israeli official version, that the Arabs
fled voluntarily (not under Jewish compulsion) and/or that they were
asked/ordered to do so by their Palestinian and Arab states’ leaders,
helped leave intact the new state’s untarnished image as the haven of a
much-persecuted people, a body politic more just, moral and deserving of
the West’s sympathy and help than the surrounding sea-of-reactionary,
semi-feudal, dictatorial Arab-societies.

The recent declassification and opening of most Israeli state and private
political papers from 1947 to 1949 and the concurrent opening of state
papers in Britain (which governed Palestine until May 1948) and in the
United States (which from the summer of 1948 became increasingly
involved in the refugee problem) has made possible the writing of a
history of what happened on the basis of a large body of primary,
contemporary source material.

The continued unavailability of Arab state papers from 1947 to 1949
necessarily leaves the historian burdened by a major problem. The
Palestinian Arabs, who were highly disorganised and failed to put
together a state apparatus, produced no state papers to speak of. The Arab
states have always refused to open their papers on the 1948 war — which
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they regarded as a humiliating catastrophe — to historians, either Arab or
non-Arab. I have done my best to reduce the ‘“‘area of darkness’ thus
created by integrating the Arab “‘side” through culling heavily from
Jewish and Israeli intelligence reports and from British and American
diplomatic dispatches dealing with the Arab world and, specifically, with
aspects of the evolving refugee problem. The intelligence and diplomatic
reports, as shall be seen, go a long way towards filling out the picture of
what was happening in the field, in the Arab towns and villages in
Palestine, during 1948. They are less enlightening, with important
exceptions, about policy-making in the Arab capitals and military
headquarters. But, as shall be seen, this relative paucity of information is
not as important as it might have been, because the disarray, confusion
and general absence of clear policy in the Arab capitals concerning the
emerging refugee problem over the crucial period between December
1947 and June 1948 meant that in any case there was very little connection
between what was happening in the field and what was discussed and even
decided by the Arab leaders.

Where necessary, however, ] have used some contemporary Arab
memoirs and diaries, and some books based on interviews with contempo-
raries, to round out the picture. The reader will have to judge whether the
ultimate product takes sufficient account of the Arab perspectives, and
whether the result, taken as a whole, is comprehensive, credible and
convincing.

After careful and long thought, I decided to refrain almost completely
from using interviews, with Jews or Arabs, as sources of information. I
was brought up believing in the value of documents. While contemporary
documents may misinform, distort, omit or lie, they do so, in my
experience, far more rarely than interviewees recalling highly controver-
sial events some 40 years ago. My limited experience with such interviews
revealed enormous gaps of memory, the ravages of aging and time, and
terrible distortions or selectivity, the ravages of accepted wisdom,
prejudice and political beliefs and interests. I have found interviews of use
in obtaining “‘colour’ and a picture of the prevailing conditions. Only
very, very rarely have I relied on oral history to establish facts.

The Arab exodus from the Jewish-held parts of Palestine occurred over
aspace of 20 months, from December 1947 to July 1949, and in the course
of a war marked by radically shifting circumstances and conditions in the
various areas of the country. The exodus of the rich from Jaffa and Haifa
over December 1947 to January 1948 was vastly different from the mass
flight of the inhabitants of Haifa and Jaffa in April and early May 1948; the
flight from Haifa was markedly different from that from Jaffa; and both
had little in common with the expulsion and flight from Lydda and Ramle
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in July or from Eilabun, Ad Dawayima and Kafr Bir'im in October—
November 1948. To describe and explain the exodus I have had to
describe and explain events and circumstances during the war’s various
stages and in the different areas. Where necessary, I have gone into
considerable detail.

The study generally proceeds chronologically, from the United
Nations General Assembly Partition resolution of 29 November 1947 to
the collapse of the Lausanne conference in September 1949 and, in
examining the exodus from various areas, is, in parts, constructed
geographically. But the chronological-geographical narrative and flow is
interruptedl by horizontal chapters dealing with specific subjects through
the 1947—9 period.

It cannot be stressed too strongly that, while this is not a military
history, the events it describes — cumulatively amounting to the Palestin-
ian Arab exodus — occurred in wartime and were a product, direct and
indirect, of that war. Throughout, when examining what happened in
each area at different points in the war, the reader must recall the nature of
the backdrop - the continuing clash of arms between Palestinian
militiamen and, later, regular Arab armies and the Yishuv (the collective
term for the Jewish community in Palestine before and during 1948); the
intention of the Palestinian leadership and irregulars and, later, of most of
the Arab states’ leaders and armies in launching the hostilities in
November-December 1947 and the May 1948 invasion to destroy the
Jewish state and possibly also the Yishuv; the fears of the Yishuv that the
Palestinians and the Arab states, if given the chance, intended to re-enact a
Middle Eastern version of the Holocaust (a bare three years after the
horrendous European version had ended); and the extremely small
dimensions (geographical and numerical) of the Yishuv in comparison
with the Palestine Arab community and the infinitely larger surrounding
Arab hinterland. At the same time, it is well to recall that, from July 1948,
it was clear to the Yishuv (and to the Arab leaders) that Israel had won its
war for survival, at least in the short term, and that the subsequent Israel
Defence Forces’ offensives were geared to securing the political-military
future of the Jewish state in what continued to be a hostile geopolitical
environment and to rounding out its borders.




Chapter 1

Background

A brief history

Modern Zionism began with the prophetic—programmatic writings of
Moses Hess, Judah Alkalai, Zvi Hirsch Kalischer and Theodore Herzl
and the immigration from Russia to Ottoman-ruled Palestine in the 1880s
of Jews dedicated to rebuilding a national home for the Jewish people on
their ancient land. The immigrants were impelled both by the positive
ideal and by the negative experience of oppression in Eastern Europe.
In the first years of the twentieth century, with the spread of the spirit of
ationalism to the colonial world, Syrian, Lebanese and Palestinian Arab

‘intellectuals began to propound the idea of liberation from the Ottoman

yoke and the establishment of an independent Arab state. At the same
time, with the spread of Jewish settlement in Palestine, friction developed
in various localities between neighbouring Arab and Jewish communities.
The highly conservative Arab villagers resented the advent of foreign
elements and may have begun to fear trespass, encroachment and perhaps
even displacement.

World War I radically changed Palestinian history. The idea of national
self-determination, trumpeted by the victors, fired the imagination of the
educated throughout the colonial world; Britain, in 1917, committed itself
in the Balfour Declaration to helping establish a ‘““National Home for the
Jewish People” in Palestine while promising to safeguard “‘the civil and
religious rights’ of the existing Arab inhabitants, and conquered
Palestine from the Turks. In the post-war years Britain accepted a
Mandate from the League of Nations to rule Palestine while preparing its
inhabitants for self-government.

Post-war troubles in Eastern Europe and the attractions of good British
administration prompted new waves of Jewish immigration to Palestine.
The contradiction between Britain’s dual commitment to fostering
Jewish self-determination and to safeguarding Arab rights soon became
apparent, and the inevitability of the clash between Jewish and Arab
national aspirations became manifest.

4




- Background

The Palestinian Arab nationalist ‘‘awakening’ was slow but steady.
Two political camps emerged over the 1920s and 1930s. One, headed by
the Husayni family, posited the end of the Mandate and the establishment
of an Arab state in all of Palestine, with civil and religious rights for the
Jews already in the country and a cessation of immigration in the future. A
more moderate camp, usually called the Opposition and led by the
Nashashibi family, was agreeable, at least in the 1930s, to a compromise,
even one based on Partition. But the Husaynis generally set the tone of
Palestinian Arab attitudes and in the mid-1930s won the struggle for the
Arab masses.!

In the Yishuv the moderate, Labour camp, led by David Ben-Gurion
and his Mapai party (Mifleget Poalei Eretz Yisrael, the Land of Israel
workers party), dominated the political arena, with the right-wing
Revisionists (who sought Jewish sovereignty over all of Palestine and
Transjordan) never capturing more than a minority of Yishuv votes. Ben-
Gurion, a pragmatist, was generally willing to accept Partition and the
establishment of a Jewish state in part of the country, although
throughout he remained committed to a vision of Jewish sovereignty over
all of Palestine as the ultimate goal of Zionism.

Anti-Jewish Arab riots and pogroms in the towns of Palestine in 19201
and 1929 demonstrated the growing hatred of the Palestinian masses —
egged on by a mixture of real and imagined religious and nationalist
grievances, and preaching — for the Zionist presence. Arab fears of
displacement, heightened by the mass Jewish immigration from Europe
of the mid-1930s (sparked by the rise of Nazism) and the Jewish land
purchases for new settlement, and a sense that violence would turn the
British around, led to the 1936 general strike and the 1936—9 Arab revolt.

The strike and revolt, directed in the first instance against the British
and, secondly, against what were seen as their Zionist wards, spread from
the towns to the countryside, and won for the Husaynis and their allies the
unchallenged leadership of the national movement. In the course of the
revolt, which was eventually firmly suppressed by the British military, the
Opposition, which in 1938-9 had collaborated with the British in
crushing the revolt, expired as a major political force.

The revolt, though crushed, persuaded Whitehall, beset as it was by the
imminent prospect of multi-front world war against Germany, Japan and
Italy, of the advisability of maintaining tranquillity in the Middle East.
The British therefore dispatched to Palestine the Peel Commission, which
in 1937 proposed the partition of the country into two states, one Jewish
(comprising the Galilee and the Coastal Plain), and the other Arab, with a
strip comprising Jerusalem and Jaffa to remain British. The Yishuv was
divided, but the Arab Higher Committee (AHC) opposed the plan. The
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British abandoned the proposal. Quiet was to be had through appeasing
the Arabs. The 1939 White Paper severely curbed Jewish immigration,
blocking off a major escape route for Europe’s Jews, who were about to fall
victim to the Nazi extermination machine, and almost stopped altogether
Jewish land purchases in the country. But Hitler’s continuing destruction
of European Jewry added urgency, momentum and political thrust to the
Zionist aim of immediate Jewish statehood. For the first time, the
movement forthrightly declared that nothing less than full, independent
Jewish statehood was its goal (the Biltmore Programme, May 1942).

With the Arab nationalists weakened by the abortive revolt and their
leaders in exile or in jail, the war years served as a pause in which both
communities rested and readied for the battle which all thought
imminent. The Yishuv prepared efficiently; Palestine’s Arabs preferred
to trust in salvation by the Arab states.

The trauma of the revolt and Arab terrorism, the upsurge of anti-
British Jewish terrorism by the Irgun Zvai Leumi (1Z1L) and Lohamei
Herut Yisrael (LHI), the morally and politically embarrassing efforts by
Britain to bar illegal Jewish immigration and the moral-political pressure
exercised by the Holocaust and by the growing, pro-Zionist American
involvement, persuaded Whitehall that withdrawal from Palestine was
the better part of valour, and dumped the matter in the lap of the United
Nations.

" The United Nations’ Special Committee on Palestine (UNSCOP)
recommended a solution based on Partition and, on 29 November 1947,
the United Nations General Assembly, by a vote of 33 to 13 (10 members
abstaining), endorsed the recommendation to partition Palestine into two
states, with Jerusalem and Bethlehem constituting a neutral international

nclave. The Yishuv greeted the resolution with joy and immediately
announced the acceptance of its terms; the Palestinian Arab leaders,
headed by the exiled AHC chief and Grand Mufti of Jerusalem, Hajj
Amin al Husayni, rejected Partition and launched a three-day general
strike, accompanied by a wave of anti-Jewish terrorism in the cities and on
the roads. Within weeks it became clear that the country was sliding into
full-scale war. The British, generally adopting a neutral stand of non-
interference between the belligerents, announced that they would
terminate the Mandate and withdraw by 15 May 1948. While initially at
least intending an orderly transfer of power, their actions over December
1947 to May 1948 remained primarily geared to assuring that their
withdrawal would run as smoothly and as costlessly as possible.
Inevitably, both Jews and Arabs accused them, in successive episodes, of
partiality toward the other side.

Between December 1947 and mid-May 1948 the Palestine conflict was
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an admixture of civil and guerrilla warfare between the two highly
intermingled communities. There were mixed neighbourhoods (in
Jerusalem); there were patchworks of Arab and Jewish neighbourhoods
(in Jerusalem and Haifa); and in each rural district and along almost every
road there was an interspersing of Arab and Jewish villages. Each side
could with ease cut off and besiege the other’s towns, villages and
outposts. In January—March 1948 the Arabs were reinforced by small
contingents of volunteers from the neighbouring Arab states; the Jews
received financial and political support, and a handful of volunteers, from
the Diaspora.

The Yishuv was militarily and administratively vastly superior to the
Palestinian Arabs. General Jewish restraint over December 1947 to
January 1948 marked by an effective ‘““draw’’ on the battlefield gave way,
in February and March, to major Jewish setbacks in the battle for the
roads. During April and May, bringing its military and organisational
superiority to bear, the Haganah (the Defence), the main Jewish militia,
switched to the offensive, driven by a sense of imminent logistical
asphyxiation, and by the prospect of the imminent British withdrawal and
the expected invasion of Palestine by the armies of the Arab states. The
Palestinian militias were roundly defeated; the Palestinian masses in each
successive area conquered fled from their towns and villages. On 14 May,
the Yishuv’s leaders declared the establishment of the State of Israel. On
15 May, the armies of Transjordan, Syria, Lebanon, Egypt and Iraq
invaded Palestine. The war became a conventional multi-front, multi-
army confrontation. After blocking the initial Arab offensives, a series of
Israeli campaigns in July and October 1948 and December 1948-January
1949 secured a decision and assured the existence of the State of Israel.

Palestine Arab society in 1947

Arab Palestine in 1947 was essentially a peasant society, but with a large,
important urban component. During the Mandate years, partly through
British influence and under the impact of the burgeoning, neighbouring
Jewish society, the transformation which in the last decades of Ottoman
rule had begun to shift the economic, social and political centres of gravity
from the countryside to the towns and cities, gained momentum. These
towns and cities, for centuries stagnant, during the first decades of the
twentieth century began to grow as a flow of landless or poor fellahin
moved to them from the villages. The relative prosperity and order of
Mandate Palestine also drew thousands of Arab immigrants from the
neighbouring countries to Haifa, Jaffa, Jerusalem and the outlying
smaller towns.
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Political consciousness, focusing on an Arab and, eventually, a
Palestinian Arab nationalism, gradually emerged. The particular con-
ditions in Palestine — with the neighbouring Arab states of Trans-
jordan, Egypt, Syria and Lebanon steadily moving towards complete
independence, with the British government in Palestine specifically, if
controversially, mandated to prepare the local inhabitants for self-rule,
and with the neighbouring, thrusting Jewish national movement offering
a constant model, challenge and threat — afforded special stimuli to the
birth of an uncompromising nationalism. While it was among the mainly
urban elite and middle classes that the Palestinian Arab national
movement at first took root, over the years of British rule the national idea
filtered down to the urban and peasant masses.

In Palestine by 1947 there were between 1.2 and 1.3 million Arabs
(about 1.1 million Muslims and 150,000 Christians), 65—-70%, of them
living in some 800—850 villages. The remaining 30-359%, lived in cities and
towns. Some 70,000 were bedouin, mostly concentrated in the northern
Negev; their number was steadily decreasing as they became settled
villagers or moved into towns. Of the approximately 370,000 town and
city dwellers, some 260,000 were Muslims and 110,000 Christians.
Between 60 and 629, of the Palestine Arab labour force were village-
dwelling fellahin. There were also many town and city-dwellers who
worked in agriculture.?

The countryside

While the rural majority and its agricultural economy remained largely
primitive and inefficient, there were the beginnings, under British
prompting and under the influence of the neighbouring models of the
Jewish settlements, of innovation and modernisation, especially in the
Coastal Plain. In 1922 there were some 22,000 dunams of Arab land
producing citrus crops; in 1940 there were 140,000, mostly destined for
export. In 1931 there were 332,000 dunams under orchards (apples,
olives); in 1942, 832,000. By and large, however, in Arab Palestine
agriculture remained geared to local consumption. The fellahin in 1947
had almost no tractors and used a primitive plough, a simple crop cycle
and almost no irrigation or fertilisers. Jewish political leaders and
settlement executives through the 1930s and 1940s spoke, with varying
degrees of sincerity, of helping to reform Arab agriculture to increase its
output which, in turn, would allow both the Arab population (increasing
through a high birth rate) and the Jewish population (multiplying through
immigration) to coexist peacefully while living on a constant, relatively
small piece of shared land. By the 1940s about half the Arab land in
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Palestine was owned by small proprietors and much of the rest was
held by big, absentee land-owners (often living in Lebanon, Egypt or
Syria).

Arab rural society was based on the village rather than the district or the
country. The fellah was by and large apolitical; his interests and loyalty
revolved around the village and hamulah (clan). Most villages had two or
three clans, headed by notables, usually on the basis of wealth. The village
headman (mukhtar) was often the head of the village’s main clan or his
appointee. Clan power was largely determined by property holding
(land). In many villages, land was owned collectively by the community.
Many clans had a regional dispersion and influence, with groups of
members scattered in a number of neighbouring villages. In some areas,
there were blocs or alliances of villages, based on extended clans
inhabiting more than one village, or marital and other alliances between
clans (as in the ‘Ein Ghazal-]Jaba-Ijzim triangle south of Haifa and the
Bani Hassan around Jerusalem).

The villages tended to be socially and politically self-centred and self-
contained; economically, they were largely self-sufficient. The villager -
rarely visited the “big city” (Haifa, Jaffa, Jerusalem) or his local town
(Lydda, Ramle, Acre, Nazareth, Safad, Majdal) and seldom saw newspa-
pers. Very few villagers could read and write,? and most villages had only
one radio, usually in the mukhtar’s house or in the village coffee shop,
where the males would gather in the afternoons and evenings to play
backgammon and to talk. Generally the villagers were politically ignorant.
The fact of British rule and administration from 1917 to 1948, and the
almost complete absence of local, district and national Palestinian
political and administrative institutions, and the lack of democratic
structures in the few that existed, meant that Palestinian rural society,
beyond the village structure, was largely apolitical and uninvolved in
national affairs, and that it was unrepresented. Limited exceptions to this
were the villages of the Samaria and Judea areas, whose leaders took part
in the Palestinian congresses of the first years of the Mandate,* and many
of whose young men participated in the rebellion of 1936—9. The villages
of the Coastal Plain, and Jezreel and Jordan valleys were not represented
at these congresses and were largely uninvolved in the rebellion. In
general, rural Arab Palestinian interests were represented by the elite
urban families, some of whom originated in the countryside, who owned
much of the arable land. The large land-owners exercised a great deal of
influence and power over the fellahin.

Each village tended to act as a collective and to act alone: the village
resisted the British or fought the Haganah or agreed to and maintained
non-belligerency with the Jews. The solidarity of the village was both its
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strength and a major weakness. Flight, like resistance, come 1948, usually
occurred en masse. Moreover, the villages tended to decide on a course and
actalone. Villages in 1948 often fought—and fell — alone; the Haganah was
able to pick them off one at a time in many districts. In many areas, there
was not even defensive co-operation between neighbouring villages, since
relations between them, as often as not, were clouded by clan or family
feuds and rivalry over land. In a few areas, however, such as the ‘Ein
Ghazal-Jaba-Ijzim triangle, and on the western edge of Jerusalem (Al
Maliha, 'Ein Karim, etc.), regional village blocks and alliances existed,
which resulted in the adoption of regional political positions, even if real
military co-operation remained largely elusive.

The village mentality, which included a great deal of fatalism, was
essentially defensive. The offensive, which required stocks of arms and
ammunition, logistics, organisation and effective military leadership and
doctrine, was alien to the Palestinian Arab fellahin. Bands of villagers
could briefly attack a Jewish settlement, herd or convoy, but they were not
able to mount a sustained, planned, co-ordinated assault. The exceptions
to this were the two main bands of Arab irregulars in the central area
(Hassan Salama’s and ‘Abd al Qadir al Husayni’s), which were largely
rural in composition, and the faz'a, a more or less spontaneous mobilis-
ation of armed villagers to take care of a specific problem (as against the
Yehiam convoy in March 1948 and at Gush Etzion in May).

The villages, though often sited on hilltops or high ground and, in the
main, consisting of stone-faced houses, lacked trench systems, bunkers
and shelters. Their inhabitants were not psychologically ‘“‘built” for
attack, which in 1948 often included mortar barrages and, occasionally,
light air raids.

By contrast, the Jewish settlements, most of them collectives (kibbut-
zim), were inhabited by the most politically advanced and committed
elements of the Jewish population. They supplied much of the Yishuv’s
military and political leadership. Characterised by a pioneering and
frontier spirit, demarcating the perimeters of the Yishuv, and having
experienced Arab attacks over the decades, the kibbutzim were built with
defence in mind — often on high ground, with trenches, bunkers and
shelters. Only a handful of kibbutzim fell to Arab attack in 1948; almost
none were abandoned by their inhabitants.

In general, Palestinian society was marked by a vast gulf and hostility
between town and country, with the deeply conservative fellahin suspi-
cious of “‘city ways”’ and innovations and resentful of the city’s economic
and political power over them. Many city dwellers regarded the fellahin
with contempt.
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The towns and cities

Roughly a third of Palestine’s Arabs lived in towns. There were 17 wholly
Arab towns — Beersheba, Khan Yunis, Gaza, Majdal (Ashkelon), Ramle,
Lydda, Hebron, Bethlehem, Beit Jala, Ramallah, Tulkarm, Nablus
(Shechem), Jenin, Shafa ‘Amr (Shfar’am), Acre, Beisan (Beit Shean) and
Nazareth. Some of these, such as Tulkarm, Jenin, Beisan, Shafa ‘Amr,
were little more than overgrown villages serving as marketing centres and
service stations for the surrounding rural communities. In addition, there
were five cities and towns with a mixed population of Arabs and Jews —
Jerusalem, Haifa and Tiberias, with Jewish majorities, and, predomi-
nantly Arab, Safad and Jaffa.

Some 30-35%, of the urban Arabs were employed in light industry,
crafts and construction, 15-17Y, in transportation, 20239, in commerce,
5—89, in professions, 579, in public service and 6—99, in other services.
While Palestinian society in general was in the throes of urbanisation,
urban society was largely still unaffected by industrialisation (though
World War II had triggered a measure of industrialisation). There were
no modern industrial plants in Arab Palestine (except perhaps for a
cigarette factory and a few small clothing plants). There were some 1,500
industrial workshops employing altogether some 9,000 workers with an
average work-force of 5 to 6 employees per workshop. By contrast there
were 1,900 industrial workshops and plants in Jewish Palestine, employ-
ing 38,000 workers, an average of 19—21 workers per plant. Other Arabs -
worked in Jewish-owned plants and in British-run plants and industrial
services. Altogether, the Arab proletariat numbered some 35,000. The
Palestine Arab industries produced soap, olive oil, clothes, cigarettes,
shoes and bread. '

Society and politics

Palestinian Arab society was led by an elite of several dozen, city-based
families — the Nusseibehs, Al Khatibs, Al Khalidis, Nashashibis and the
Husaynis in Jerusalem, the ‘Amrs, al Tamimis and Al Ja'baris in Hebron,
the Sa'ids, Al Bitars and Dajanis in Jaffa, the Shawas and the Husaynis in
Gaza, the Taji al Faruqis and Al Ghusayns in Ramle, the Tawqans, 'Abd
al Hadis, Al Nabulsis, Al Shak’ahs and Al Tamimis in Nablus, the ‘Abd al
Hadis and 'Abushis in Jenin, the Khalils, Shukris, Tahas, Al Khayats and
Al Mahdis in Haifa, the Shugayris and Khalifas in Acre, the Al Fahums,
the Dahirs and the Zu'bis in Nazareth, the Tabaris in Tiberias and Al
Khadras in Safad.® The families provided Arab Palestine’s big land-
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owners, politicians, judges, merchants, mayors, high civil servants,
religious leaders, doctors, lawyers and intellectuals. Each family usually
covered most or all fields, one member being a judge or a mayor; others
were merchants, professionals and civil servants. Their power, influence
and connections were usually local rather than national; their obligations
were to family, dependents, city and district, in that order. It was a highly
regional, oligarchic structure. While the elite families exercised power
over much of the rural and urban populations through direct and indirect
economic and religious levers, they maintained a vital distance from the
fellah and the urban worker; the vast socio-economic gulf was marked by
resentment and mutual suspicion.

During the Mandate years, a small middle class emerged - of
professionals, officials and shopkeepers. But, while aspiring to merge
with the elite families socially, and occasionally moving or marrying into
them, the middle class remained too small and the traditional elitist
structure too powerful to allow the bourgeoisie effectively to wield
political and economic power.

In thelate 1940s, 28 of the 32 members of the AHC were from these elite
families, and the remaining four were bourgeoisie. None were peasants or
proletarians. Some 24 were of urban extraction, and only four or five were
originally from the countryside. There was, and remained through 1948, a
wide gulf of suspicion and estrangement between urban and rural Arab
Palestine, which was to underlie the lack of co-ordination between the
towns and their rural hinterland during the hostilities. The elite families
by and large had no tradition of, or propensity for, national service and
their members did not do military service with the Turks, the British or
neighbouring Arab armies. Few of the military leaders of the 1936-8
rebellion were from the ruling families. It was mainly a peasant rebellion,
with the town-dwellers restricting themselves largely to civil protest
(demonstrations, riots and a general strike) and, at a later stage, to inter-
factional terrorism.®

From 1919—20, the political families of Arab Palestine divided into two
main camps, the Majlisiyyun and the Mu'aridun — that is, those
supporting the Husaynis, the Supreme Muslim Council, of which Hajj
Amin al Husayni was president, and the Arab Executive Committee,
which the Husaynis controlled, and those opposed to the Husaynis, led by
the Nashashibis. The Arab communities were split not so much along
ideological lines as along lines of family and local loyalty. The struggle
between the Husaynis and their opponents was mainly over power and its
economic spoils; the political-ideological differences were secondary,
though the Nashashibis, with their rural allies in the Hebron, Nablus and
Nazareth areas, tended to take a more moderate line towards Zionism and
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the Mandate. The Nashashibis often secretly met Jewish representatives
and, in private, frequently adopted a conciliatory tone. At various times in
the 1920s and 1930s, the Opposition factions received Zionist financing.
This split between the Husaynis and their opponents was to characterise
Arab politics down to 1948 and the friction between the two camps was to
dissipate Palestinian strength at crucial junctures, including 1936—9,
when the Husaynis assassinated many of their opponents, and 1947-8.

During the 1930s, the elite families set up formal political parties. In
1935 the Husaynis established the Palestine Arab Party (A/ Hizb al Arabi
al Falastini), which became Arab Palestine’s main political organisation.
Earlier, in 1934, the Nashashibis had set up the National Defence Party
(Hizb al Difa al Watani). In 1932 Awni ‘Abd al Hadi of Samaria set up the
Istiglal Party, which was pan-Arab in ideology, and in 1935, Jerusalem
mayor Dr Husayn Khalidi set up the Reform Party (Hizb al Islah). The
early 1930s also saw the establishment by Ya'qub Ghusayn of the Youth
Congress Party and the Nablus-based National Bloc Party (4! Kutla al
Wataniya). The proliferation of parties tended to dissipate the strength of
the Opposition.

All the parties opposed Zionism and, in varying degrees, British rule,

* /1/and aimed at Arab statehood in all of Palestine (though the Istiglal did not
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espouse separate Palestinian statehood). The parties had no internal
elections or western-style institutions, and no dues, and were based on
family and local affiliations and loyalties. Families, clans and villages
rather than individuals were party members, with semi-feudal links of
dependence and loyalty determining attachment. The elite families
usually identified with either the Husayni or the Nashashibi camp; a few
prominent families managed to remain unattached.”

The parties, including the Husaynis and Nashashibis, initially made
common cause in 1936 in supporting and leading the troubles. Differ-
ences were set aside and party activity was stopped. Representatives of the
six parties constituted the Arab Higher Committee (AHC) on 25 April
1936 to co-ordinate the struggle nationally. On the local level, the parties
set up National Committees in each town and city to run the strike and
other political activities, but as the general strike gave way to widespread
rebellion, the traditional enmities re-surfaced, with the Nashashibis and
their allies re-emerging as the Opposition. The Nashashibis came to
represent and lead those Palestine Arabs — the traditional anti-Husayni
groups, much of the aristocracy and middle class, and much of the
countryside — who came to regard the strike and revolt as fruitless.
Assassination and intimidation by the Husaynis decimated the Oppo-
sition ranks; terrorism, extortion, rapine and brigandage against villagers
and town-dwellers by the armed bands and the inevitable search and
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destroy operations against the rebels by the British military alienated
much of the population. Rebel bands often fought among themselves. By
1938-9, the rural population had grown tired of the fight. Villages turned
against the rebels and anti-rebel “peace bands” were formed.?

The outcome of the rebellion, apart from the political gains embodied
in the 1939 White Paper, was that thousands of Arabs — rebels and
bystanders — were killed or gaoled, thousands of rebel and Opposition
members fled the country and much of the Palestinian elite and middle
class was driven or withdrew in disgust from the political arena.
Implacable blood feuds were born, with telling effect for the denouement
of 1946-8; Husayni—Nashashibi alliance or compromise became
inconceivable.

In suppressing the rebellion, the British outlawed the AHC, arresting
or exiling its members, some of whom (including Hajj Amin al Husayni)
went to Europe and served the Axis during World War I1. The country
remained politically inactive during the war years, with several of the
parties officially reconstituting themselves only in 1944—5. The AHC also
re-emerged, with the Husaynis holding a majority but with the other
parties also represented. In early 1946 the rifts reappeared and in March
1946 the Arab League stepped in and appointed a new AHC composed
only of Husaynis and their allies. Its members were Hajj Amin al Husayni
(president), Jamal Husayni (deputy president), Dr Husayn Khalidi
(secretary), and Ahmad Hilmi Pasha and Emil Ghawri. The Opposition
was left out in the cold.

The end-result of the rebellion, its suppression and the following six
years of world war was the political and military neutering of the
Palestinian Arabs. The Arab states increasingly represented Palestinian
demands and interests, with the Husaynis usually determining what was
acceptable. The Nashashibis, decimated by Husayni’s assassins, and
tarnished with the brush of collaboration with the British in the last stages
of the rebellion, disbanded politically. The Arab League’s clear support
for the Husaynis in 1945-6 ended hopes of a Nashashibi revival. Zionist
efforts through 1942 to 1947 to revive the moderate camp — which the
Jewish Agency always believed represented majority Palestinian opinion
— were to no avail. Even as late as January—February 1948 senior Jewish
Agency Political Department and Haganah Intelligence Service figures,
such as Gad Machnes, Ezra Danin and Elias Sasson, hoped that the
Opposition would reassert itself, restrain Arab militancy and wrest
control of the Palestinian masses away from the Husaynis. The Yishuv’s
Arab experts generally asserted that this was unlikely unless the Husaynis
suffered major military defeat and Transjordan’s King Abdullah sup-
ported the Opposition politically and with arms and money.®
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The divide between the Husaynis and the Opposition had relatively
clear geographical as well as familial-clan demarcations, both reflecting
and intensifying the regionalism that had characterised Palestinian
society and politics for centuries. Husayni strength was based on
Jerusalem and its surrounding villages, rural Samaria and Gaza; the
Opposition was strong in Hebron, the Galilee, Tiberias and Beisan,
Nablus, Jenin and Haifa.

This regionalism, one element of which was the perennial resistance in
Haifa, Nablus and Hebron to the supremacy of Jerusalem in Palestinian
life and another, the contempt of the highland inhabitants in Samaria and
Judea for the Coastal Plain Arabs, was to constitute a major source of
Palestinian weakness during the battles of December 1947-May 1948.
As the Haganah was able to pick off village after village without each
coming to the other’s assistance, so it was able, because of the Arab
regional animosities, to fight and overrun one area after another of
Palestine without having to face a co-ordinated multi-regional defence.
The situation in early 1948 reflected in great measure the regionalism,
disunity and lack of co-ordination between the armed bands in 1936—9.
Regionalism, reflecting and bolstering the fissures between the Husayni
and Opposition constituencies, in the 1947-8 battles, despite efforts to
present a united front, was partially to underlie the denial of assistance in
arms, reinforcements or diversionary attacks by the Husaynis and their
allies to traditional Opposition strongholds (as happened, for example, at
Haifa between January and April 1948).

A further divisive element built into Palestinian society was the
Muslim—Christian rift. The Christians, concentrated in the towns and
cities, were generally wealthier and better-educated than the Muslims.
They prospered under the Mandate. The Muslims throughout the
Mandate feared that the Christians would “‘sell out” to the British (fellow
Christians) and/or make common cause with the Jews (a fellow minority).
Indeed, Christians took almost no part in the 1936—9 rebellion. The
Christian leaders repeatedly went out of their way to express devotion to
the Palestinian national cause; a coterie of Christian notables was
prominent in the Husayni camp. In 1948, as some Muslims had
anticipated, the Christian Arab community leaders, notably in Haifa and
Jaffa, by and large were far less belligerent than their Muslim counter-
parts. Zionist leaders repeatedly tried to exploit this rift but at the last
moment the Christians almost always shied away from advancing from
conciliatory private assurances to moderate public commitment and
action.

But what was to prove the fatal weakness of Palestinian Arab society
stemmed not from the perennial Husayni—-Opposition conflict nor from
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the regional patriotism with which it overlapped nor from the Muslim-
Christian divide but from that society’s fundamental lack of self-
governing institutions, norms and traditions. The British Mandate of
1920—48 can be seen as a nursery in which two societies competed and
raced to achieve self-government. The Yishuv won the race outright. Its
“National Institutions” almost from the first were built with an eye to
conversion into institutions of state. By May 1948, it had a shadow
government, with almost all the institutions (and, in some fields, such as
agriculture and settlement, an excess of institutions) of state in place and
ready to take over. The Jewish Agency, with its various departments
(political, finance, settlement, immigration, etc.), became the govern-
ment, the departments smoothly converting into ministries; the Haganah
became the Israel Defence Forces (IDF); the Jewish Agency Executive
and, subsequently, the ‘People’s Administration’ (minhelet ha'am)
became the Cabinet; and so on. The Yishuv taxed itself, its various
institutions obtaining funds for the diverse national services and goals; the
Histadrut (the trade union federation) taxed its members to provide
health services and unemployment allowances; the Jewish National Fund
(JNF) levied taxes for afforestation and settlement; special taxes were
instituted to purchase arms for the Haganah and to cover the absorption of
new immigrants. At the same time, the Yishuv received continuous
financial aid from the Jewish communities of the Diaspora, with large
emergency funding during 1947-9.

The Arabs of Palestine, on the other hand, despite continuous efforts,
enjoyed no such steady, reliable aid from the hinterland of neighbouring
Arab states and the Muslim world. Indeed, the rejection by the Arab
governments and armies of local and national Palestinian pleas for money,
arms and reinforcements in late 1947 and early 1948 was merely a
continuation of what had gone before. Cumulatively, it engendered
among the Palestinians a strong feeling of abandonment by their brother
Arabs, to some degree accounting for the Palestinians’ sense of despair in
1948. All told, some 5,000 Arab volunteers reached Palestine by March
1948. Most of them were from the urban slums of Iraq, Syria and
Lebanon, organised as the Arab Liberation Army (ALA) under Fawzi al
Qawugji. Militarily they were fairly useless, and throughout they were at
loggerheads with the local Palestinian militiamen and population.

During the Mandate, the National Council and the Jewish Agency,
coupled with Jewish municipalities and local councils and the Histadrut,
provided the Yishuv with most essential services (health, education, social
welfare, industrial development, settlement) in co-ordination with the
Mandate government’s own departments. By 1948, the Yishuv—atightly-
knit, centrally organised community of some 650,000 Jews (of whom 80—
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909, were of European birth or extraction) — was an almost completely
self-governing society with the tools in hand to convert to independent,
fully-fledged statechood within days or weeks. Moreover, the years of
practical self-rule and preparation for statehood, while involving the
usual struggles for power between and within parties, had thrust to the
fore an exceptionally talented, self-sacrificing and committed leadership
in the fields of politics, the economy, settlement and defence. The quality
of the national leadership was echoed lower down on the level of
municipal and local government, in the kibbutzim and moskavim and in
the Haganah.

The Yishuv was a community with an exceptionally high level of
political consciousness and commitment. The bulk and dominant ele-
ments of the Yishuv were, to one degree or another, socialist, their
socialism in singular fashion bolstering rather than detracting from the
nationalist aspirations. By the end of 1947, the Yishuv was united around
a single national purpose — statehood, come what may, and quickly,
against all odds. This goal was imbued with messianic character; it was
viewed against the backdrop of the Holocaust (1939—45) which had just
ended, and the 2,000 years of persecution of Diaspora Jews that had gone
before it. The Yishuv saw itself as a community without choice - it was
statehood or bust, and bust, given the depth of Arab enmity for Zionism,
meant a possible repetition, on a smaller scale, of the Holocaust.

By contrast, the Palestinian Arabs were backward, disunited and often
apathetic, a community only just entering the modern age politically and
administratively. In many fields the Palestinian leaders consciously tried
to copy Zionist models, but the vast differences in the character of the two
populations and levels of consciousness, commitment, ability and educa-
tion meant that the Arabs qualitatively were radically outclassed. The
moment the Yishuv quantitatively reached what proved a critical mass,
the outcome was ineluctable.

By 1947 much of the Palestine Arab population had only an indistinct, if
any, idea of national purpose and statehood. There was clarity about one
thing only — the Jews aimed to displace them and therefore they had to be
driven out. The Arabs were probably less enthusiastic or clear about
wanting to be rid of the British. Indeed, one may assume that many of the
Christian Arabs probably preferred the continuation of the Mandate to
either Muslim Arab or Jewish rule. But on the whole, save for the
numerically small circle of the elite, the Palestinians were unready for the
national message or for the demands that the national idea was to make
upon the community, both in 1936-8 and, far more severely, over 1947-8.
Commitment and readiness to pay the price for national self-fulfilment
presumed a clear concept of the nation and of national belonging, which
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Palestine’s Arabs, still caught up in a village-centred (or at best a regional)
political outlook, by and large completely lacked. Most Palestine Arabs
had no sense of separate national or cultural identity to distinguish them
from, say, the Arabs of Syria, Lebanon or Egypt. Over the Mandate years,
with the spread of education, literacy, newspapers and radios, and
reinforced by the thrusting presence of burgeoning Zionism, that sense of
separate identity and purpose gradually matured. But the process proved
too slow; it failed to keep pace with the realities and demands of a swiftly
changing historical situation. For decades the Arab elite families may
have vied for power in the rarified arena of newly defined Palestinian
nationalist politics, even to the point of killing each other, but for the mass
of the country’s Arabs, the struggle to establish a state was largely a
remote affair.

Administratively, things were not much better. For a variety of reasons,
including lack of educated personnel and political consciousness, Pales-
tine’s Arabs never established state or pre-state structures akin to those of
the Yishuv; in the main, they lacked all self-governing and administrative
machinery by 1948. Only on the municipal level and in the sphere of
religious life did Palestine’s Arabs garner experience and establish
patterns of very limited self-rule during the Mandate.

The municipalities, the only important Arab or semi-Arab institutions
for which there were popular elections (albeit irregularly held, in 1926,
1934 and 1946, and with very limited, propertied suffrage), carried out
few of the functions of the same institutions in the Yishuv, and, by British
accounts, carried them out poorly. The budgets of the municipalities give
an idea of the limited scope of their operations. Ramle, with a population
of over 20,000 in 1941, had an annual budget of Palestine pounds (P£)
6,317. Jenin, a far smaller town, had a budget of P/ 2,320, Bethlehem,
with a population of over 10,000, P£ 3,245, Nablus, with a population in
1942 of about 30,000, P£ 17,223 and Jaffa, with a largely Arab population
of about 80,000 in 1942, P£90,967. By comparison, all-Jewish Petah-
Tikvah, with a population of 30,000, had a budget of P£ 39,463 in 1941;
Tel Aviv, with a population of some 200,000, in 1942 had a budget of
P£779,589.1°

The only Palestinian Arab national administrative institution during
the Mandate was the Supreme Muslim Council (SMC) (Al Majlis al
Islami al A'la), which until 1937 was presided over by Hajj Amin al
Husayni. The SMC was the institutional power base from which Husayni
during the late 1920s and 1930s won the supreme leadership of the
Palestine Arab community, and, apart from a hiatus over 1937—45, the
SMC was to remain under the sway of the Husaynis until 1948. The SMC
managed the awkaf (the Muslim trusts responsible for holy sites and
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properties) and the Islamic courts (shar't), maintained the mosques and
appointed religious officials (imams, preachers, etc.), and ran a number of
limited educational and social services (schools, orphanages, etc.). The
SMC members were appointed by the Mandate authorities. During the
1920s and 1930s the Husaynis used the financial weight of the SMC to
mobilise and retain support for their faction against the Nashashibis; at
the same time, SMC funds were withheld from Opposition centres such
as Hebron. The SMC became politically marginal in the mid-1930s after
the AHC was set up and after Husayni was dismissed from its presidency.

During the Mandate, Arab leaders, usually for factional or party
political reasons, tried to set up trade unions and a national trade union
federation, but these efforts were marked by almost complete failure. The
main reason for this was probably the primitive nature of the Arab
economy; it lacked industry and had spawned only a small class-conscious
proletariat. Moreover, the unionisation efforts were marked by, and
regarded by all as part of, the Husayni—Opposition struggle. By 1947, only
some 30,000 Palestine Arab workers were unionised, and the unions —
unlike the Histadrut in the Jewish sector, which, given its functioning as
the umbrella organisation of the Haganah, the Hapoel sports association
and the main health service (Kupat Holim Clalit shel ha’ Histadrut), served
as a national rather than merely a workers’ organisation — were insignifi-
cant organisations. A high level of unionisation was achieved by the Arabs
only in the relatively small Palestine railways and the postal services.

In general, in complete contrast to the Yishuv, Palestine’s Arab
community failed completely to organise itself for statehood. It remained
throughout dependent on the British Mandate administrative machinery
and bureaucracies. Consequently, when these withdrew in the spring of
1948, Arab Palestine —and especially the towns and cities - slid into chaos,
with confusion or even anarchy characterising the distribution and sale of
food, public transport and communications, law and order (uncontrolled
armed bands took over neighbourhoods and villages as most policemen
deserted their posts, taking their rifles with them), etc. The spread of
Arab-Jewish hostilities over December 1947 to May 1948 exacerbated the
situation. Palestine Arab society fell apart. The Yishuv, suffering from
the same conditions of warfare and siege, and with far less manpower and
no hinterland of friendly states, proved able to cope.

Nowhere was this pre-1948 organisational disparity between the two
communities greater than in the military field. The Palestine Arabs began
preparing for hostilities against the Yishuv (and the British) in the early
1930s. But the results were inconsiderable and their worth was diminish-
ed by partisan political affiliation and loyalties.

Three small jihadiyya (fighting societies) were established: al Kaff al
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Khadra (the Green Palm) in the Hebron area, al Jihad al Mugaddas (the
holy war), led by Amin al Husayni’s nephew, 'Abd al Qadir al Husayni, in
the Jerusalem area, and al Shabab al Tha'ir (the rebellious youth) in the
Tulkarm—Qalqilya area. All three planned and/or carried out anti-
British attacks, albeit in a small way. More dramatic were the brief
activities of Sheikh ‘Izz al Din al Qassam around Haifa and in northern
Samaria towards the end of 1935. After killing several Jewish settlers
and a policeman, the band was cornered and al Qassam was killed by the
British.

More important in the process of the militarisation of the Palestine
Arab youth was the establishment by the Husaynis of the Futuwwah
(youth companies), in which party-affiliated youngsters were trained in
military drill and the use of weapons. The movement, modelled after the
Nazi youth organisations,!! never amounted to much though it supplied
some of the political cadres who organised the general strike of 1936 and
the terrorism of the later part of the rebellion. The Futuwwah were re-
established after World War II but never numbered more than several
hundred youths under arms.

A larger organisation was the Najjada (auxiliary corps), set up in the
post-war period, largely at Opposition initiative, with its centre in Jaffa.
In summer 1946 it had 2,000—-3,000 members and was led by Mohammad
Nimr al Hawari; its officers were mainly Palestinians who had served in
the British Army. In the run-up to the 1948 war, the Husaynis tried to
gain control of the Najjada companies, with varying degrees of success.!?
The Najjada, too, lacked arms. Neither the Najjada nor the Furuwwah
had branches in the countryside.

The bulk of the arms, which amounted to several thousand rifles, of
varying ages, in Palestinian hands at the end of 1947 were dispersed in the
villages around the country, the private property of each family and clan.
Thearmed, able-bodied villagers formed aloose, untrained militia at each
locality. They were equipped neither psychologically nor physically, in
terms of logistics, organisation and weaponry, for sustained action outside
their village or in concert with other armed groups. Many armed villagers
intermittently joined or assisted the volunteer units that moved into
Palestine at the beginning of the war, but, in general, they and their
weapons remained rooted in each village and, with the possible exception
of the persistent attacks in early 1948 on the Tel Aviv—]Jerusalem convoys,
were never centrally organised or mobilised for effective battle against the
Yishuv.

The Palestine Arabs had no arms production capacity (except for
primitive bombs). Exact figures about numbers and stocks of arms of the
Palestinian Arab para-military organisations do not exist, but an idea of
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Palestine Arab military strength can be gained from figures relating to
individual villages. Ghuweir Abu Shusha, by the Sea of Galilee, with a
population of 1,240, in April 1948 had some 48 militiamen with 35—40
assorted rifles, and 20—-50 rounds of ammunition per man. 'Ein az Zeitun
near Safad, with a population of 820, had s0—60 militiamen with 40—-50
assorted rifles and one or two machineguns, with 25-35 rounds of
ammunition per rifle. Safad, with about 9,500 Arabs, had 200—250 local
armed militiamen with 35-50 rounds per rifle. Al Khalisa, in the Galilee
panhandle, with a population of 1,840, had 35—40 armed militiamen, with
50—70 rounds per rifle.!? In the main towns, where the Futuwwa and the
Najjada had branches, the situation was proportionately no better.
Despite the arrival of small irregular units as reinforcements in early
1948, matters did not greatly improve during the first months of the war.
An Arab intelligence report from Damascus in late March 1948 stated that
the urban militias had ‘“‘no more than a few old rifles and a very small
number of machineguns and grenades. Were it not for the occasional
intervention of the British Army . . . the ability of these forces to hold off
the Jews, who are superior in number and equipment, must be in
doubt.”’** In general, the Palestine Arabs by the end of 1947 had a healthy
and demoralising respect for the Yishuv’s military power. A Jewish
intelligence source in October 1947 described the situation in the
countryside thus: “‘the fellah is afraid of the Jewish terrorists . . . who
might bomb his village and destroy his property . . . The town-dweller
admits that his strength is insufficient to fight the Jewish force and hopes
for salvation from outside [i.e., by the Arab states].”’ At the same time, the
“moderate majority’’ of Palestine’s Arabs, “‘are confused, frightened . . .
They are stockpiling provisions . . . and are being coerced and pressured
by extremists . . . [But] all they want is peace, quiet.”’*> If it came to battle,
the Palestine Arabs expected to lose but, conceiving of the struggle as
lasting for decades or centuries, believed that the Jews, like the Medieval
Crusader kingdoms, would ultimately be overcome by the surrounding
Muslim world.®

By contrast, following the Arab riots and pogroms of 1920-1 and 1929,
the Yishuv fashioned a highly organised, effective underground self-
defence organisation in the Haganah. After a massive, covert arms
acquisition campaign in the West following Ben-Gurion’s assumption in
1946 of political direction of the organisation, and on the basis of his
perception that the Yishuv had to make ready to defend itself both against
aguerrilla campaign by Palestine’s Arabs and a conventional attack by the
surrounding Arab states, the Haganah, by September 1947, possessed
10,489 rifles, 702 light machineguns, 2,666 sub-machineguns, 186
medium machineguns, 672 2-inch mortars and 92 3-inch mortars. (The
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Haganah had no tanks or artillery at the start of the 1948 war.) Thousands
more weapons were purchased, or stolen from the withdrawing British,
during the first months of the war. Moreover, the Yishuv had a relatively
advanced arms producing capacity. Between October 1947 and July 1948,
for example, the Haganah’s arms factories produced 3 million 9gmm
bullets, 150,000 mills grenades, 16,000 sub-machineguns (Stens) and 210
3-inch mortars.!?

In May 1947, the Haganah’s total adult membership, both male and
female, numbered 35,000, with another 9,500 members in its para-
military Gadna (g'dudei no’ar, youth battalions) corps. Of the 35,000 some
2,200 were the permanently mobilised members of the Palmah (p’lugoz
mahatz, shock companies).'®* By May 1948, the Haganah had mobilised
and deployed in standing military formations 35,780 troops — some 5,500
more than the combined strength of the regular Arab armies who invaded
Palestine on 15 May (though the invaders were far better equipped and,
theoretically, better trained).!®* The Haganah’s successor from the
beginning of June, the Israel Defence Forces (IDF), in July 1948 had
63,000 men under arms.2°

But, perhaps even more important than the numbers, which meant that
one person in ten in the Yishuv was mobilised by July 1948, was the
Haganah’s organisation, from its highly talented, centralised General
Staff, with logistical, intelligence and operational branches, down to its
brigade and battalion territorial and mobile formations. Apart from the
Palmah battalions, few of the units had been well trained by December
1947, but the organisation had a relatively large pool of veterans of the
British Army and a highly committed, internally trained officer corps.
Before 1948, the Haganah had been an underground army. In the course
of that year, it emerged and efficiently functioned as a large conventional
force, beating first the Palestinian Arab militias and then the combined
irregular and regular armies of the Arab states. By April-May 1948, it was
conducting brigade-size offensives, by July, multi-brigade operations;
and by October, divisional, multi-front offensives.

It was in the realm of the organisation and control of armed forces,
especially in the towns and cities, that the Palestine Arabs were at the
greatest disadvantage, as was to emerge starkly during the first months of
the war. The Husayni domination of the AHC and of the political arena
assured, at least on the surface, a unity of sorts at the start of the hostilities.
Husayni—-Opposition differences were buried and coalition National
Committees (on the 1936 model) were set up in December 1947 and
January 1948 by the leaders of the communities in each town and city, and
in many villages. But the different political outlooks of the parties and the
divergent political and economic interests quickly began to tell. In some
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areas, Husayni domination of the population (around Jerusalem) meant
an aggressive, offensive strategy by armed bands of irregulars and
militiamen. In other areas, where the Husaynis were weak, and where
upper and middle class business interests came to the fore, as in Jaffa and
Haifa, the Husayni supporters were unable to unleash attacks and
struggled against the moderate elements to adopt a more militant posture.
For months there was lack of co-ordination and co-operation between the
AHC and the National Committees in Opposition-led Jaffa and Haifa.
The Mufti and the AHC tried to assert control through direct contacts
with their supporters (imams, municipal officials, local militia leaders),
bypassing the National Committees.?*

The militias in each area and town, sometimes cutting across the
Husayni-Opposition divide,in large measure operated independently of
political control or interest. This was especially the case in towns where
there were large contingents of non-local irregulars, such as Jaffa. Militia
units in Jaffa, Haifa and Jerusalem continually and blatantly ignored
instructions from National Committees and, occasionally, from the AHC
or the Defence Committee in Damascus. In late January 1948, Jerusalem
National Committee leader and AHC member Husayn Khalidi com-
plained to the Grand Mufti in Cairo that ‘Abd al Qadir al Husayni’s
irregulars were generally ignoring the local National Committees and did
what they liked without any co-ordination: ‘“‘indescribable confusion is
being created,’’ said Khalidi.?? The British authorities believed that, in
general, the National Committees and the AHC managed to exercise only
“comparatively feeble authority” over the militias in the towns.?® The _
general pi d trained manpower, and disorganisation
and confusion reflected the lack of adequate preparation for the war by
Palestine’s Arabs in the pre-1948 period.-

The notion of transfer in Yishuv thinking

Throughout the 1930s and 1940s, Palestine’s Arabs, or at least the
politically aware sectors of the community, believed that the Yishuv was
bent on expansion and, ultimately, partial or complete displacement of the
country’s Arab inhabitants. The rise of Jewish political and military
power, and especially the enormous influx of Jewish immigrants fleeing
persecution in Europe in the mid-1930s, was seen as proof that such a
process was taking place, whether or not it stemmed from an overall plan.
Jerusalem lawyer Fa'iz Haddad, it was reported, ‘“does not fear us at
present and he believes that for the moment we don’t have ambitions to
dominate Palestine’s Arabs and the Arab world. But the Jews, he says, are
talented and ambitious, and he fears that the future generations will
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display expansionist tendencies.’’** The Jews were insufficiently aware of
the real fear in the Arab world of a Jewish State, should it be established,
thought Za'far Dajani, chairman of the Jaffa Chamber of Commerce.?s

British observers in Cairo, reporting on the conference of Arab prime
ministers in December 1947, summarised the Arab view of Zionist
ambitions thus: the ultimate aim of all the Zionists was “‘the acquisition of
all of Palestine, all Transjordan and possibly some tracts in Southern
Lebanon and Southern Syria.”” The Zionist “politicians”, after taking
control of the country, would at first treat the Arabs “nicely.” But then,
once feeling “‘strong enough,’” they would begin ‘“‘squeezing the Arab
population off their lands . . . [and] if necessary out of the State.”’ Later,
they would expand the Jewish state at the expense of the Palestine Arab
state.

However, the more militant Haganah commanders wished to move
more quickly, believed the Arab leaders, according to the British.
Exploiting the weakness and disorganisation of the Arabs, they would
first render them — especially in Jaffa and Haifa — “completely powerless”
and then frighten or force them into leaving, ‘‘their places being taken by
Jewish immigrants.” The Arab leaders, according to the British observ-
ers, thought that there existed a still more extreme Jewish plan, of the
Revisionists, calling for more immediate expansion.2¢

Such Arab prognoses were to be in the nature of self-fulfilling
prophecies. In 1948, Arabs were to be ‘“‘squeezed’’ out of Jaffa and Haifa,
and the Jews were to behave, at least in part, as the Arab leaders expected
and said they would behave.

However, these prognoses also had a basis in mainstream Jewish
thinking, if not actual planning, from the late 1930s and 1940s. Ben-
Gurion put it clearly at a meeting of the Jewish Agency Executive in June
1938: “The starting point for a solution of the Arab problem in the Jewish
state’’ was the conclusion of an agreement with the Arab states that would
pave the way for a transfer of the Arabs out of the Jewish State to the Arab
countries. Ben-Gurion supported the establishment of a Jewish State on a
small part of Palestine ““not because he is satisfied with part of the country,
but on the basis of the assumption that after we constitute a large force
following the establishment of the state — we will cancel the partition of the
country [between Jews and Arabs] and we will expand throughout the
Land of Israel.” When one of the participants asked him whether he
contemplated such a population transfer and expansion ‘‘by force,”’ Ben-

OleGurion said: ““[No]. Through mutual understanding and Jewish—Arab
agreement . . . [But] the state is only a stage in the realization of Zionism
and it must prepare the ground for our expansiO{l throughout the whole
country through a Jewish-Arab agreement.”’?*
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The idea of a “voluntary” or “compulsory’ transfer of all or the bulk of
the Arabs inhabiting the Jewish State areas had been in the air since the
mid-1930s. All schemes for establishing a Jewish State in Palestine,
including the Peel Commission recommendations of July 1937, came up
against the major problem of the existence of a large Arab minority: any
way in which the land could possibly be partitioned would still leave a
sizeable Arab minority in the Jewish State area. And while the Yishuv
looked to massive Jewish immigration to fill up the state, it was clear that if
alarge Arab minority was left iz sizu, their far higher birthrate would mean
that they would constitute a perpetual threat to the Jewish majority and,
given their active or potential hostility, to the body politic itself. The idea
of transferring the Arabs out of the Jewish State area to the Arab state area
or to other Arab states was seen as the chief means of assuring the stability
and ‘““Jewishness’’ of the proposed Jewish State.

In proposing Partition, with the Jews to get a mini-state consisting of
much of the Coastal Plain and the Galilee, and the Arabs to get, for their
state, Samaria, the bulk of Judea, the southern Coastal Plain and the
Negev, the Peel Commission recommended the transfer, with British
assistance and by force, if necessary, of many or all of the some 225,000
Arabs living within the proposed Jewish state area.

During World War I, Ben-Gurion had written that the Jews had not
come to Palestine to ‘““dominate and exploit’ the Arabs: “We do not
intend to push the Arabs aside, to take their land, or to disinherit them.’’?®
But the following years, which saw the Balfour Declaration and the Arab
eruptions of 1920-1, 1929 and 1936—9, transformed his outlook. He
posited the Peel Commission recommendation, writing: “The compul-
sory transfer of the Arabs from the valleys of the proposed Jewish state
could give us something which we never had, even when we stood on our
own during the days of the First and Second Temples,”” a Galilee without
Arabs. “Weare being given an opportunity which we never dared to dream
of in our wildest imaginings. This is more than a state, government and
sovereignty — this is national consolidation in a free homeland.’’?° Ben-
Gurion understood that few, if any, of the Arabs would uproot themselves
voluntarily; the compulsory provision would have to be put into effect.
“We must expel Arabs and take their places. . . and if we have to use force—
not to dispossess the Arabs of the Negev and Transjordan, but to
guarantee our own right to settle in those places — then we have force at our
disposal,” he wrote to his son, Amos, contemplating the implementation
of the transfer recommendation of the Peel Commission report.3°

The Jewish Agency Executive, the ‘“‘government” of the Yishuv, in
June 1938, against the backdrop of the Woodhead Commission’s review
of possible solutions to the conflict, debated at length various aspects of

25



The birth of the Palestinian refugee problem, 1947-1949

the transfer idea. Ben-Gurion proposed ‘‘Lines of Action” for the Jewish
State-to-be: “The Jewish state will discuss with the neighbouring Arab
states the matter of voluntarily transferring Arab tenant-farmers,
labourers and fellahin from the Jewish state to the neighbouring states.”
Such a transfer and the concomitant encouragement of Jewish immigra-
tion to the state ‘“were not tantamount to discrimination,’” he said.3!

The executive meetings were held in the shadow of events in Europe,
where minority problems, especially involving Germans, were visibly and
dramatically undermining the stability of a cluster of states in the heart of
the continent. Ben-Gurion read out a letter from General Zionist Party
leader Fischel Rottenstreich, a member of the executive away due to
illness, which said that in view of events in Poland and Czechoslovakia,
the Yishuv must look with concern to its minority problem: “We must. ..
stand by the Peel Commission proposal, which sees in transfer the only
solution to this problem.” But the transfer idea was always regarded, at
least by Ben-Gurion, as a matter to be carried out in an agreed and orderly
fashion between the Arab states and the Yishuv, with compensation and
planned resettlement for those transferred.3? Other members of the
executive spoke of Eastern Europe, and especially of the Sudeten German
problem; there was a consensus in favour of implementing the proposed
transfer, though an argument raged about its scale and about whether it
was to be accomplished with or without Britain, and voluntarily or
compulsorily.

Theissue took up almost the whole of the day-long executive meeting of
12 June, which was also attended by members of the Political Committee
of the Zionist Actions Committee. Shmuel Zuchovitzky (Zakif), of
Magdiel, a major Yishuv agricultural sector figure, thought that the
British should carry out the transfer. Werner David Senator, an executive
member, said that the Yishuv must aim for a ‘“‘maximal transfer.”
Yehoshua Supersky, of the Zionist Actions Committee, said that the
Yishuv must make sure that ‘“a new Czechoslovakia is not created here
[and that this could be assured] through the gradual emigration of part of
the Arabs.” Avraham Menahem Ussishkin, the head of the Jewish
National Fund (JNF), thought that there was nothing immoral about
transferring 60,000 Arab families: ““It is the most moral [thing to do],” he
said. “We will not be able to begin our political life in a state in which
Arabs will constitute 459, [of the population].”” But Ussishkin did not
believe that the Yishuv could or should carry out the transfer by force; the
world would oppose and stop it. Only the British could do it, he argued.
Berl Katznelson, the most important of the Labour Zionist leaders who
opposed accepting Partition, said that the Yishuv could not carry out the
transfer alone: it would have to be in, and after, agreement with Britain
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and Arab states. ‘“‘But the principle should be that there must be a large
agreed transfer,” he said. The Jewish Agency’s Treasurer, Eliezer
Kaplan, thought that perhaps, with proper financial inducement and if
left impoverished in the nascent Jewish State, the Arabs might agree to a -
“voluntary” transfer. Eliahu Berlin, a leader of the Knesset Yisrael
religious party, suggested that “‘taxes should be increased so that the
Arabs will flee because of the taxes.” Ben-Gurion referred to the Peel
Commission’s transfer recommendation, calling it an incomparable
“achievement in terms of Jewish settlement. With compulsory transfer
we [would] have a vastarea . . . I support compulsory transfer. I don’t see
in it anything immoral.” He too thought that it must be carried out by
Britain rather than by the Jews.3?

The transfer solution to the Arab minority problem, while deliberately
aired little in public, fired the imagination of many Yishuv executives.
Yosef Weitz, the director of the JNF’skey LLands Department and a major
settlement executive, wrote in his diary on 20 December 1940:

it must be clear that there is no room in the country for both peoples . . . If the
Arabs leave it, the country will become wide and spacious for us . . . The only
solution [after the end of World War II]isa LLand of Israel, at least a western Land
of Israel [i.e., Palestine], without Arabs. There is no room here for compromises
.. . There is no way but to transfer the Arabs from here to the neighbouring
countries, to transfer all of them, save perhaps for [the Arabs of] Bethlehem,
Nazareth and old Jerusalem. Not one village must be left, not one [bedouin] tribe.
The transfer must be directed at Iraq, Syria and even Transjordan. For this goal
funds will be found . . . And only after this transfer will the country be able to
absorb millions of our brothers and the Jewish problem will cease to exist. Thereis
no other solution.3*

As the solution to the seemingly insoluble Arab minority problem of the
future Jewish State, the transfer idea continued to preoccupy Weitz and
other Yishuv leaders for years. In 1942 Weitz noted that Kaplan
“‘absolutely” suppported a transfer but thought that the matter must be
approached ‘““with great care.” A number of Yishuv committees (one of
them including Kaplan, Jewish Agency Political Department director
Moshe Shertok (Sharett) and Dov Yosef) between 1938 and 1942 looked
into various aspects of the transfer proposal, such as how to implement it,
the absorptive capacity of the neighbouring states, financing the imple-
mentation, and so on. The proposal remained on a back-burner so long as
the prospect of the establishment of the Jewish State remained remote,
but the idea continued to command attention and, with some figures, like
Weitz, to grip the imagination as the only clear solution to the prospective
Jewish State’s major problem.3s

During the post-World War I1I years the transfer idea, always prickly,
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was avoided in public discussions. In the run-up to the UN General
Assembly Partition Resolution of November 1947, the Yishuv leaders
usually ignored the subject. The British had made it clear that they
opposed a transfer and certainly would not implement it on behalf of the
Jews, and the various United Nations bodies dealing with Palestine
between 1945 and 1947 similarly showed no inclination to adopt a transfer
solution. The Yishuv leaders understood that the new Jewish State would
have to cope with its Arab minority as best it may. Talk of transfer would
only torpedo the passage of the Partition resolution. Hence Ben-Gurion,
testifying before UNSCOP on 8 July 1947, went out of his way to reject
the 1945 British Labour Party platform ‘‘International Post-war Settle-
ment’’ which supported the encouragement of the movement of the
Palestine Arabs to the neighbouring countries to make room for Jews.
“We did not accept it then,” Ben-Gurion said of the Labour Party
proposal. “We do not claim that any Arab ought to be moved,’ he told the
United Nations Commission.3¢
In early November 1947, the Jewish Agency Executive discussed
various proposals for giving the prospective Jewish State’s Arab minority
citizenship in the neighbouring prospective Palestine Arab State. The
consensus was for giving as many of the Arab minority in the Jewish State
citizenship of Arab Palestine rather than Jewish State citizenship. In the
event of war between the two Palestine states, said Ben-Gurion, the Arab
minority in the Jewish State would be “‘a Fifth Column.”” Hence, it was
best that they be citizens of the Palestine Arab State so that, if hostile, they
“could be expelled” to the Palestine Arab State. But if they were citizens
of the Jewish State, ““it would only be possible-to- 1mpr1sorrdrem“an, dit
would be better-to-expel them than to-imprison them.” There was no
explicit mention of-the collective transfer idea.>’

'*“H(iwever, there was perhaps a hint of the idea in “Ben-Gurion’s speech

to Mapai’s supporters four days after the UN Partition resolution, just as
Arab-Jewish hostilities were getting under way. Ben-Gurion starkly
outlined the emergent Jewish State’s main problem — its prospective
population of 520,000 Jews and 350,000 Arabs. Including Jerusalem, the
state would have a population of about one million, 40%, of which would
be non-Jews. “This fact must be viewed in all its clarity and sharpness.
With such a [population] composition, there cannot even be complete
certainty that the government will be held by a Jewish majority . . . There
can be no stable and strong Jewish state so long as it has a Jewish majority
of only 609,.”” The Yishuv’s situation and fate, he went on, compelled the
adoption of “‘a new approach...[new] habits of mind”’ to “suit our new
future. We must think like a state.”’38
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The first wave: the Arab exodus, December 1947
— March 1948

~

v

Z{ he United Nations General Assembly vote of 29 November 1947, which
upported the partition of Palestine into two states, one Jewish and one
Arab, prompted Arab attacks and sniping against Jewish passers-by in the
big towns, and on Jewish traffic on the roads, the following day. The
AHC, which completely rejected Partition, declared a three-day general
strike, beginning on 1 December, thus releasing the Arab urban masses
for action. On 2 December an Arab mob, unobstructed by British security
forces, stormed though the Jewish commercial centre of Jerusalem,
looting and burning shops and attacking Jews. Arab and Jewish snipers
exchanged fire in Haifa and attacks were launched on the neighbourhoods
in Tel Aviv which adjoined Jaffa and its suburbs. Parts of Palestine were
gripped by chaos; the escalation towards full-scale war had begun. As in
1936, National Committees were set up in the Arab towns to direct the
struggle in each locality.

December was marked by a spiral of violence between the militias of the
neighbouring urban communities, which included sniping, bomb attacks
and several main assaults. Traffic to and from the Jewish neighbourhoods
and towns was often interdicted, prompting Jewish retaliatory strikes.

In January 1948, in line with Arab League resolutions in December
1947 supporting indirect intervention, Arab volunteers (some of them ex-
soldiers), spearheaded by the battalions of the Arab Liberation Army
(ALA), began to move into the country. The first full-scale Arab attacks
on Jewish settlements were launched with the aim of destruction and
conquest—on Kfar Szold (9—10 January), Kfar Uriah (11 January) and the
Etzion Bloc (14 January).

During February and March, as the British stepped up their prepara-
tions for withdrawal and increasingly relinquished the reins of govern-
ment, the battle, especially along the roads, intensified. Given the
geographically intermixed populations, the presence of British forces and
the militia-cum-underground nature of the opposing Arab and Jewish
forces, the hostilities during December 1947 — March 1948 combined
elements of a guerrilla, civil and conventional war. Large bombs and
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continuous sniping caused death and destruction both in the centres of the
Arab and Jewish towns and in their border neighbourhoods. In the
countryside, the Arabs gained the upper hand in their efforts to block the
roads between the main Jewish population centres: the introduction by
the Haganah in January-February of escorted convoys was matched in
March by improved Arab tactics and increased firepower, which, in a
series of major ambushes of the Khulda, Nabi Daniel and Yehiam
convoys, managed to destroy most of the Yishuv’s armoured truck fleet.

The defeats of March and the prospect of invasion of the emergent
Jewish State by regular Arab armies prompted the Haganah’s switch in
April to the strategic offensive. By then, the Arab exodus from Palestine
had begun. By February—March 1948, some 75,000 Arabs, mostly from
the urban upper and middle classes of Jaffa, Haifa and Jerusalem, and
from villages around Jerusalem and in the Coastal Plain, had fled to Arab
centres to the east, such as Nazareth and Nablus, or out of the country.

Ben-Gurion’s Arab affairs advisers had already informed the Yishuv’s
leader on 11 December 1947 that ‘““‘Arabs were fleeing from Jaffa [and]
from Haifa. Beduins are flecing from the Sharon [i.e., the Coastal Plain].”
Yehoshua (Josh) Palmon and Ezra Danin, senior Haganah Intelligence
Service (Shar) officers, told Ben-Gurion that Arabs were fleeing their
villages to live with relatives elsewhere; ex-villagers resident in towns
tended to flee back to their native villages. Urban families were fleeing to
Nazareth and Nablus. Palmon thought that Haifa and Jaffa would be
evacuated “‘for lack of food.” Danin favoured strangling the urban Arabs
economically by destroying their buses, trucks and cars, cutting off the
roads into Palestine and blocking Palestine’s Arab ports.! Ben-Gurion
was persuaded that the inhabitants of Jaffa and Haifa, ““islands in Jewish
territory,”” were at the Yishuv’s mercy and could be starved out.?

By 11 January 1948, according to Elias (Eliahu) Sasson, the director of
the Arab division of the Jewish Agency’s Political Department, Arab
morale was low in all the main towns and in their rural hinterlands. Sasson
wrote to Transjordan’s King Abdullah:

Hunger, high prices, and poverty are rampant in a frightening degree. There is
fear and terror everywhere. The flight is painful, from house to house, from
neighbourhood to neighbourhood, from city to city, from village to village, and
from Palestine to the neighbouring countries. The number of these displaced
persons is estimated in the thousands.?

Haganah policy, December 1947 — March 1948

The outbreak of Arab violence in various parts of Palestine in the
immediate wake of the United Nations Partition resolution was viewed
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initially by the Yishuv and the Haganah leadership as a possibly
ephemeral new bout of troubles akin to the outbreaks of 1920-1, 1929 and
1936—9, and not necessarily as the start of a war.

After the first day of Arab attacks, Ben-Gurion, on 1 December 1947,
called in Sasson, and Golda Myerson (Meir) and Reuven Zaslani
(Shiloah), both top officials of the Jewish Agency Political Department.
Shiloah proposed Jewish restraint, arguing that the Mufti, Hajj Amin al
Husayni, was interested in a “‘sharp’’ Jewish reaction which he could use
to stir up the Arab masses, and he opposed a one-to-one policy of
retaliation.*

In meetings of the Defence Committee (va'ad habitahon), which was
composed of 12 representatives of major bodies and groups in the Yishuv,
including the Haganah National Command, the Jewish Agency, the
Histadrut and the National Council (ka'va’ad haleumi), and of the
Haganah General Staff during the first week of hostilities, it was agreed
that

the outbreaks should not yet be seen as the start of planned, systematic and
organised Arab aggression . . . The Arab population does not want a disruption of
peace and security and there still is not a decision [by the Arab leadership to go to
war). We evaluated these outbreaks as of a local character . . . [We decided] that we
were not interested by our behaviour to aid the AHC and the Mufti to suck into
this circle [of violence] wider strata of the Arab population.

The Defence Committee, which exercised parliamentary political control
over the Haganah, and the Haganah commanders decided against
“widening the circle of violence.”’$

The Haganah at first adopted a purely defensive strategy. But this
changed after the first month of hostilities as Arab attacks spread to new
areas and as Jewish casualties increased, and as the fecling grew that the
Husaynis were gaining control of the Arab masses. Already in mid-
December, pressure began to mount for a switch to a more aggressive
strategy. In his speech on 10 December to the Histadrut Executive
Committee, Israel Galili, the head of the Haganah National Command,
spoke of the spread of the violence, which ‘‘also necessitates changes in
our behaviour.” These changes were needed, Galili felt, because of the
erosion of the Yishuv’s military self-confidence. The Arabs were
interpreting the Jews’ purely defensive strategy as a sign of weakness,
Galili told the Defence Committee on 11 December. He proposed that the
Haganah adopt a strategy of ‘‘active defence,’ hitting back when Jewish
targets were attacked and initiating attacks against Arab targets. Specifi-
cally he posited attacks on “‘Arab transport . . . hitting the property of
those responsible, inciters and organisers [of attacks on Jews]” and
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against bases of Arab irregulars. At the meeting, Galili found wide
support for a change of strategy. Ya'acov Hazan, a leader of the socialist
Mapam (Mifleger Poalim Meuhedet, united workers party), proposed an
even ‘‘more severe’” Haganah strategy.®

Two senior Haganah figures, Yohanan Retner and Fritz Eisenstadt
(Shalom Eshet), on 19 December called for an “aggressive defence,”
meaning: “In each [Arab] attack [we should] be prepared to reply with a
decisive blow, destruction of the place or chasing out the inhabitants and
taking their place.”””

At the meeting of the Defence Committee the day before, two leading
Yishuv figures called, for the first time, for the levelling of offending Arab
villages. Eliahu Elyashar, the leader of Jerusalem’s Sephardi community,
urged the ‘“uprooting” of Abu Kabir, outside Jaffa, ““as a lesson to the
rural communities’’; and Binyamin Mintz, the leader of the orthodox
Poalei Agudat Yisrael Party, said with respect to a village in the Negev: “If
the possibility arises of evicting all its inhabitants and destroying it, this
must be done.” (But Yosef Sapir, the mayor of Petah Tikva and a major
orange-grove owner, argued against destroying whole villages, ‘“‘even
small [ones] . . . This recalls Lidice — [and] here is food for thought.”)?

The first operational proposal by the Haganah to level a village was
made on II January 1948, in an intelligence report on the murder on 9
January of 11_Haganah scouts outside Gan-Yavne by militiamen from
‘Arab Sukreir.ﬁfhe report, written apparently by the Haganah Intelli-
gence Servicey recommends: ‘“The village should be destroyed com-
pletely and some males from the same village should be murdered.”’,

The gradual shift in strategy during December 1947 in practice meant a
limited implementation of Tochnit Mai (‘‘Plan May *’), which, produced
in May 1946, was the Haganah master plan for the defence of the Yishuv
in the event of the outbreak of new troubles similar to those of 1936—9.
The plan included provision, in extremis, for “destroying the Arab
transport’’ in Palestine, and blowing up houses used by Arab terrorists
and expelling their inhabitants.®

The British quickly — indeed, somewhat prematurely — noted the
Haganah’s change of strategy, and claimed that ‘“‘spontaneous and
unorganised’® Arab rioting might well have subsided had the Jews not
resorted to retaliation with firearms. ‘““The Haganah'’s policy was initially
of defence and restraint, which quickly gave place to counter-operations,’
wrote the High Commissioner, Alan Cunningham. He believed
that the AHC was not initially interested in ‘“‘serious outbreaks’’ but that
the Jewish response had forced the AHC to organise and raise the level of
violence. Cunningham deemed some of the Jewish reprisals — such as the
attack on the Arab Haifa bus on 12 December 1947 — ““an offence to
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civilization.”” Cunningham preferred not to differentiate between the
Haganah’s operations and those of the IZL and LHI."!

But if there was a shift to more forceful retaliatory responses in many
areas, Haganah national strategy remained — and was to remain until
March 1948 — one which would restrict as far as possible the scope of the
conflagration and which would not strike in areas so far free of hostilities.
Initially, the motive was to avoid an all-out war between the Jewish and
Arab populations. Deliberately provoking violence in hitherto quiet areas
could bring the Yishuv into conflict with the British — the last thing Ben-
Gurion wanted as he contemplated=thecountdown to statehood and
probable war with the Arab states. Moreover, the Haganah, in February—
March 1948, felt stretched enough without adding new areas of hostilities.
Palmon, at the meeting of Ben-Gurion with his Arab affairs advisers and
Haganah chiefs on 1 January 1948, put it this way: “Do we want the Arab
people to be united against us, or do we want to benefit from . . . their not
being united? Do we want to force all the . . . Arabs to act against us, or do
we want to give them the opportunity not to act against us?”’ Palmah OC
Yigal Allon agreed. “There are still untroubled places in the country.
There is no need to hit an area which has been quiet for a long time . . . we
must concentrate on areas where in effect we are at war.”

During December 1947, however, and occasionally thereafter, remote
Haganah units, without General Staff direction, carried out a number of
unauthorised or poorly conceived operations, which tended to widen
rather than curtail the area of hostilities. These operations subsequently
came in for severe criticism in the Yishuv’s political and intelligence
institutions, and, occasionally, in the General Staff itself.

Summarising the first month of fighting, the heads of the Arab Division
of the Jewish Agency’s Political Department on 1-2 January, in a meeting
with Ben-Gurion and the Haganah commanders, severely criticised
Haganah attacks in December on Romema and Silwan in Jerusalem, in
the Negev, near Kfar Yavetz, and at Khisas, in the Galilee panhandle.
Danin and Gad Machnes, another Arab affairs expert, charged that the
Khisas attack — in which about a dozen civilians, including four children,
had been killed — had unnecessarily spread the fighting to a hitherto quiet
area. They had hoped that Jewish restraint would enable the Arab
Opposition leaders to re-emerge and frustrate the Husayni-inspired Arab
militancy. However the Haganah commanders, including the relatively
junior Moshe Dayan, attending as an Arab affairs expert, rejoined that
whether or not the Khisas attack had been misconceived, it had prompted
the local Arab inhabitants to seek a peace agreement with the Yishuv.
Apparently, it had also prompted neighbouring villages to ask non-local
Arab irregular bands to leave the area. The implication was that, however
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unpleasant, the use of force, even if occasionally excessive, was in the long
run fruitful. Ben-Gurion, however, in a cable to Shertok, then in New
York, said that the Khisas attack had been unauthorised and that the
Haganah had apologised for the death of the civilians. A major upshot of
the mistaken attacks on Khisas and in Jerusalem was the appointment of
Arab affairs advisers — drawn mainly from the Haganah Intelligence
Service — to some Haganah district, brigade and battalion headquarters.
Throughout the war, these advisers complained that their advice was
often ignored or rejected.!?

As to the Negev, Ben-Gurion, at a meeting of the Mapai Centre (or
central committee) on 8 January 1948, said that the Haganah had been
largely responsible for “‘spreading the fire” there; a Palmah unit had
“mistakenly’ entered an Arab village, provoking Arab fear and attack.??

However, these incidents were the exception rather than the rule.
Haganah operations were usually authorised and effectively controlled by
the General Staff. Moreover, notwithstanding the British view of
Haganah operations, the General Staff, through December 1947 — March
1948, attempted to keep its units’ fighting as “clean’ as possible. While
coming to accept the general premise that retaliatory strikes against Arab
traffic and villages would inevitably involve the death and injury of
innocent people, general orders were repeatedly sent out to all Haganah
units to avoid killing women, children and old people. In its specific
orders for each operation, the General Staff almost always included
instructions not to harm non-combatants, as happened, for example, in an
attack on the village of Salama, outside Jaffa, in early January, when Galili
specifically forbade the use of mortars because they might cause casualties
among non-combatants.*

Through January and February the Haganah continued outwardly to
accuse the Mufti of waging an organised, aggressive war against the
Yishuv. However, the Palestinian war effort was a disorganised, sporadic
affair. ““The Arabs were not ready [for war] . .. There was no guiding hand
... The National Committees and the AHC were trying to gain control of
the situation — but things were happening of their own momentum,’’
Machnes told Ben-Gurion and the Haganah commanders on 1 January
1948, and added that most of the Arab population had not wanted
hostilities. The Mufti had wanted (and had incited) ““troubles’ but not of
such scope and dimension, said Sasson (who disputed that the outbreaks
had been generally spontaneous and unorganised).!®

After the first weeks of hostilities, the Mufti apparently became
perturbed about the situation in Jaffa and Haifa, the main Arab towns,
probably in part because of the spectacle of Arab flight. In late December
1947 and in January 1948, Yishuv intelligence sources reported that the
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Mufti had decided to shift the focus of Arab military activity from the
towns to the countryside in order to relieve the pressure on the towns, but
said that the villagers “were not rushing to start operations.”” However,
the Mufti’s favourite military commander,’ Abd al Qadir al Husayni, met
with other irregulars’ commanders, and it was decided to send contin-
gents to the villages, from which they would mount “hit and run’’ attacks
on the Jews. Arab irregulars moved into several villages. Jewish
intelligence sources were not optimistic about the villagers’ ability to
expel the irregulars.

Here, too, there were exceptions. The Mufti apparently was not
interested in inciting violence everywhere. In late January, according to
Haganah intelligence, he told a delegation from the village of Masmiya al
Kabira in the south ““to keep quiet and not to clash with the Jews, unless
attacked. Similarly, Hajj Amin {al Husayni] added: ‘so long as help from
the Arab States is not assured, one should avoid battle with the Jews.””’

The change in Arab strategy, moving the focus of violence from the
towns to the countryside, had come about, Sasson explained to Ben-
Gurion, because of pressure on the Mufti from the townspeople. Sasson
advised that the Haganah should keep up or step up its pressure on the
towns so that the urban leaders would press for a cease-fire. Attacks on
villages, Sasson felt, would lead nowhere as the Mufti would be
indifferent to ““the death of fellahin.”’*® During late January, February and
March, the Haganah, mainly through a partial siege, maintained the
pressure on the main Arab towns.

On 8 January, Ben-Gurion said that so far, only the Arabs of the three
big cities (Haifa, Jaffa and Jerusalem) had been sucked into the hostilities;
the countryside, despite efforts by the Husaynis to incite it, had remained
largely quiescent and non-belligerent. It was in the Yishuv’s interest that
the countryside remain quiet, and this depended in large measure on the
Yishuv’s own actions. “We [must avoid] mistakes which would make it
easier for the Mufti’’ to stir up the villages, he said.'”

Regarding the countryside, the Haganah’s policy throughout February
and March was ‘‘not to extend the fire to areas where we have not yet been
attacked” while at the same time vigorously attacking known bases of
Arab attacks on Jews and, in various areas, attacking Arab traffic.'® This
policy also applied to the Negev. Yosef Weitz, the chairman of the Negev
Committee (the Yishuv’s civilian district governor) and director of the
Jewish National Fund’s LLands Department, put it this way: “As to the
Arabs, a policy has been determined: We extend our hand to peace. Every
beduin who wants peace, will be satisfied. But if anyone dares to act
contrariwise — his end will be bitter.”’*®> A few weeks earlier, on 13
February, the Palmah’s commander in the Negev, Nahum Sarig,
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instructed his officers on Haganah policy in the south: “(A) Our job is to
appear before the Arabs as a ruling force which functions forcefully but
with justice and fairness. (B) We must encourage the Arabs to carry on life
as usual. (C) We must avoid harm to women and children. (D) We must
avoid harm to friendly Arabs.” In praxis, this meant, according to the
Negev OC, that “Arabs should be allowed to graze their sheep in their
fields. If [he] grazes in a Jewish field, [you] must open fire, but avoid
hitting the shepherd or confiscating the herd.” Searches in Arab
settlements should be conducted ““politely but firmly . . . If the search is a
resultof an attempt to hit our forces, you are permitted to execute any man
found in possession of a weapon.”

The Haganah’s difficulty during January—March 1948 was that while it
sought to maintain quiet and to pacify as much of the country as possible,
its reprisals, sometimes misdirected, sometimes excessive, tended to suck
in more and more Arabs into the circle of violence. Only strong, massive,
retaliatory action, it was felt, would overawe the Arabs and silence them.
But the retaliatory strikes often hit the innocent as well as the guilty, bred
anger and vengefulness and made more and more Arab communities
susceptible to Husayni’s militant—nationalist appeals, despite great initial
reluctance to enter the fray.?°

By and large, however, until the end of March, the Haganah’s
operations conformed to the general principle of limiting the conflagra-
tion, at least in terms of geography, as much as possible. At the same time,
Haganah reprisals tended to increase in ferocity as the months passed, as
the Haganah units grew accustomed to operations in increasingly larger
formations and became more efficient, as Jewish casualties increased and
as the Yishuv realised that the life and death struggle had only just begun.
But from December 1947 through March 1948 the organisation’s policy
remained constant: to defend against Arab attack and to retaliate in so far
as possible against the guilty, while seeking to limit the scope and
dimensions of the conflict.?! In part, this policy stemmed from Haganah
weakness; in large measure, it was due to the belief, at least until the end of
March, that the Haganah must hold its fire and horses as the British would
notallow a radical change in the Jewish/Arab military balance before their
withdrawal from Palestine.

Jewish and Arab peace-making efforts through December 1947
to March 1948

Side by side with the Haganah’s policy during the early months of the
conflict of trying to restrict the scope of the violence, various Jewish
bodies — including the Arab Division of the Jewish Agency Political
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Department, the Histadrut’s Arab Worker’s Department, Mapam and
local Jewish authorities — and local Arab leaders, both in towns and
villages, tried to make peace, or at least maintain a cease-fire, in many
areas of the country.

Good neighbourly relations between Jewish and Arab communities
were most long-lasting in the Hefer Valley, around Hadera, in the
northern half of the Coastal Plain, and in the area to the east, along
northern Samaria’s western foothills. Strenuous efforts were also made
during the first months of the conflict by Jewish officials, led by Danin
and Palmon, to keep peace between the Yishuv and several Arab villages
and bedouin tribes in the Coastal Plain north of Tel Aviv, and by
Histadrut officials in the Jerusalem area.

In September 1947, as the clouds of war gathered over Palestine, some
of the Arab villages in the Samaria foothills initiated a large, “‘peace
meeting’> with their Jewish neighbours. The meeting was attended by
about 70 Arab local leaders — including the mukhtars of Wadi'Ara, Ar'ara
and the Turkeman tribe near Kibbutz Mishmarot — and 40 Jewish local
leaders. The leaders of the largest Arab village in the area, Baga al
Gharbiya, refused to attend. The Arab and Jewish leaders appointed a
standing committee to settle disputes between the communities, should
they arise.??

In the Hefer Valley proper, the newly initiated Arab—Jewish contacts
led, on 22 October, to a visit by 60 children from the Kibbutz Ein Shemer
school to the school in Khirbet as Sarkas, ‘““where they were received very
well.” The visit reciprocated one by a class from Khirbet as Sarkas to Ein
Shemer and Kibbutz Gan Shmuel earlier that month.??

From the local Jewish leadership’s point of view, the start of hostilities
elsewhere in the country made the strengthening of contacts with their
Arab neighbours in the Hefer Valley imperative. ‘“The order of the day is
to strive for good neighbourly relations,” the local Jewish authorities
announced.?* Earlier, on 12 December 1947, the Jewish and Arab leaders
in the Hefer Valley had held a peace celebration in the Emek Hefer
Regional Council building, called on the initiative of the mukhrar of the
‘Arab al Shimali tribe. The Arab leaders said they wanted peace and a
continuation of their good relations with their Jewish neighbours. They
asked for a promise that the Jews would not harm them and for “the
protection of the [regional] council.”” Announcing the meeting, the Hefer
Valley Jewish authorities said the meeting took place despite attempts by
emissaries from Tulkarm to ““incite” these Arabs against the Jews. The
Jews would maintain the peace so long as the Arabs did not break it, said
the council. Officials of the Jewish Agency Political Department’s Arab
Division helped set up the meeting.2® The Jewish local leaders also made
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arrangements to provide some of the neighbouring Arab villages with
supplies, especially flour, in the event that these should be cut off. Arab
families living in Hadera had fled but Arab workers continued to come
into the town to work.2¢

Soon after the start of the hostilities, the somewhat inactive Arab
Worker’s Department of the Histadrut initiated contacts with Arabs in
order to promote peace or truces between neighbouring communities in
various areas. The fraternity of workers of all nations lay at the core of the
trade union federation’s ideology. The Histadrut, on 21 January 1948,
issued a poster to all Arab “workers’’ to live in peace with the Jews and to
turn their backs on their leaders, ‘““who are leading you to destruction.”’?’

The founder of the Arab Worker’s Department, who was also its senior
official in Jerusalem, Aharon Haim Cohen (no relation of Mapam’s
Aharon Cohen), was instrumental during January and February in
concluding peace agreements between Jewish Jerusalem and its outlying
Arab villages of Al Qastal, Sur Bahir and Al Maliha. In early February he
reported to the department from Jerusalem that two additional villages,
‘Ein Karim and Beit Safafa, had also sent out feelers, saying they were
interested in concluding a formal peace. Cohen suspected a Husayni trick,
but he noted that ‘Ein Karim and Al Maliha that week had ‘“not
welcomed ™ a band of irregulars led by ‘Abd al Qadir al Husayni who had
asked permission to bivouac in these villages.?® Several other villages in
the Jerusalem area, including Deir Yassin, had already concluded non-
belligerency agreements with Jewish Jerusalem.?®

The following month, ‘Abd al Qadir al Husayni’s irregulars were again
poorly received by the villagers around Jerusalem (in “Qaluniya, Abu
Ghosh, Suba, Al Qastal and Sataf”’), were not allowed to stay and had to
return to their original base at Beit Surik, northwest of the city.3® A
fortnight before, ‘Abd al Qadir had tried to incite the inhabitants of
Shu'fat, north of Jerusalem, to attack neighbouring Neve Ya'acov. The
villagers had demurred, reportedly arguing that if they raided the Jewish
settlement, the Jews would retaliate and destroy their village. They were
willing to attack Neve Ya‘acov, according to the Haganah intelligence
report, only if the aim was ‘‘real [i.e., permanent] conquest.’’3!

The other major irregulars’ leader in the centre of the country, Hassan
Salama, of Qula, proved equally unsuccessful in stirring up the locals to
attack the Jews. The Ramle National Committee told him that they would
not attack neighbouring Jewish settlements unless they were themselves
attacked. Lydda’s National Committee took the same line.3? Similar
resistance to the presence and/or incitement of the militants was displayed
in the villages between Tel Aviv and Herzliya (Sheikh Muwannis, Al
Mas'udiya (Summeil) and Jammasin). In December 1947 or January
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1948, the leaders of these villages, and the mukhtars of ‘Arab Abu Kishk
and Jalil, met with Haganah representatives in the house of Avraham
Schapira in Petah Tikva and expressed a desire for peace. They said that if
they could not withstand the irregulars unaided, they would call on the
Haganah for help. These overtures were apparently matched on the
Jewish side in January and February by visits by Palmon and Danin to
several villages, including Sheikh Muwannis and ‘Arab Abu Kishk,
where they asked the inhabitants to remain where they were and to accept
Jewish protection and rule.33 Even as late as early May peace overtures of a
sort were reportedly made by several Arab villages. Haganah intelligence
reported that As Sindiyana, Sabbarin and Al Fureidis, south and
southeast of Haifa, were all interested in “surrendering to the Haganah”
but none of them was willing to be ““the first.” The villagers of Al
Kheiriya, east of Tel Aviv, who had evacuated the village weeks before,
were reported to be interested in returning and ‘“‘accepting Jewish
authority.”3*

The AHC strongly opposed such local peace initiatives and agree-
ments. The Mufti may at times have wanted a reduction of the scale of the
conflict, but he was opposed to anything that resembled peace with or
implicit recognition of the Yishuv. The AHC stymied a number of local
peace efforts. In mid-January, for example, the British Galilee District
Commissioner reported that the Arab leaders of the town of Beisan and
the Jewish settlements in the surrounding valley were interested in
reaching ‘‘an informal agreement of mutual restraint’ but the AHC had
vetoed the idea. In the Nazareth area and in Acre, the Arab local leaders,
the District Commissioner reported, were also interested in some form of
cease-fire or curtailment of hostilities.?®

By and large, however, as the fighting spread, suspicion and antago-
nism between neighbouring, and in some cases traditionally friendly,
settlements grew and the possibility of concluding or maintaining local
Arab-Jewish cease-fires or peace agreements receded. This was especially
true in the centre of the country, where much of the fighting was
concentrated. In the south and north, some neighbouring settlements
maintained effective cease-fires for months, primarily because of the
mutual need to protect and carry out the summer harvest of their fields. A
similar state of non-belligerency, based on tacit or explicit understand-
ings, prevailed with regard to the harvest of the citrus crop in the southern
Coastal Plain during the first months of 1948.

The general sense of despair at restoring any form of Jewish—Arab
amity and of containing the war emerged in meetings at the end of March
of the officials of Histadrut Arab Worker’s Department, whose fraternal
activities through the first months of the war had largely been limited to
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distributing peace-promoting leaflets and circulars. One of the Arab
Worker’s Department officials, Avraham Ben-Zur, on 26 March said that
the Arab villages along the border between the prospective Jewish and
Arab Palestine states could serve as ‘“‘bridgeheads’ of peace and co-
operation between the two emerging entities. He cited a teacher in
Khirbet as Sarkas as one possible vehicle for such peaceful endeavour.
Eliahu Agassi, the department director, spoke of the leaflets being
distributed in the Hefer Valley—Samaria foothills area and of the joint
Arab-Jewish supplies committee operating in the Hefer Valley. However,
the general tenor of the meeting was not hopeful. At a second meeting, on
30 March, the Department’s officials spoke rather unrealistically of
possible Jewish—Arab cooperation in the railways, radio station and oil
refinery, although they understood that Arab—Jewish coexistence in the
countryside had broken down. They focused their attention on one of the
last districts in which Arabs were still living in the Jewish state area — in
and around Hadera — and planned to visit the town the following week.
Agassi said: ‘“‘Perhaps our visit could stop the exodus of the Arabs from
the area.”” Whether the visit took place is unclear.3® What is clear is that
within a fortnight the Haganah, for strategic reasons, decided that no
Arabs should remain in the Hadera area and those still there were expelled
(see chapter 3).

By the end of March, there was an impasse. The Husaynis, as in 1936—9,
had managed to still the moderate voices in the Arab camp and had gained
a firm hold over almost all of Arab Palestine. Most of the country was
engulfed in warfare. The Haganah, especially on the roads, was sorely
pressed and on the defensive. While some local truces remained in force
between neighbouring communities, most Arab villages were now
dominated by elements hostile to the Yishuv and many harboured active
irregular units. And where the Husaynis were not in control, the locals,
fearing the Mufti’s wrath, preferred to have no truck with the Jews. They
were caught between the hammer and the anvil. Palmon told a meeting of
the executives of the Political Department held on 25 March that contacts
with the Arabs had been almost completely severed and that “in general,
the Arabs could be defined as united [behind the Husaynis] . . . Today,
there is almost no area of the country where we can talk with the Arabs,
even on local matters, to pacify and calm things down.”

Both Palmon and Danin thought that in large measure the situation was
a product of ill-conceived Jewish military actions and over-reactions, and
that by and large, the Arab affairs experts on the national level and in each
locality had been, or were being, ignored by the Yishuv military
commanders. The situation, Palmon said, was such that in future the
Yishuv might find it difficult ¢‘to prove that we weren’t the aggressors” ~
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apart from the Jerusalem area, where the violence was clearly a product of
Arab initiative. Danin added that ““as a result of several superfluous
[Haganah] operations, which mainly hurt ‘good’ Arabs who were in
contact with us.. . . the [Arab] mass exodus from all places was continuing.
The Arabs have simply lost their faith [in our goodwill?].”

The situation had caused general demoralisation in the Political
Department’s Arab Division, whose ambivalent functions included both
peace-making contacts with Arabs and intelligence-gathering. Danin said
that if things continued as they were, the Division ‘“‘should be closed
down.” Ya'acov Shimoni, a senior Division official, said that the Haganah
Commanders argued that “war was war and that there was no possibility
of distinguishing between good and bad Arabs.”’%’

The first stage of the exodus: December 1947 — March 1948

The hostilities of December 1947 to March 1948 triggered the start of the
exodus of Palestine’s Arabs. We shall first examine what happened in the
cities, then in the countryside.

The cities

Haifa The exodus from Haifa, which had a population of about 70,000
Arabs and a similar number of Jews, began in early December 1947, a few
days after the start of Arab—Jewish hostilities. A British intelligence unit
reported that both Jews and Arabs were evacuating the border areas
between the two communities and moving to safer districts. The unit
commander, stressing, curiously, the movement of Jews rather than
Arabs, commented that these initial shifts of population “lead one to
speculate on the eventual magnitude that this problem will present during
the implementation of partition.”” The first reported evacuation was of
250 Arab families from the Halissa quarter on 4 December.3® Abandoning
one’s home, and thus breaking a major psychological barrier, paved the
way for eventual abandonment of village or town and, ultimately, of
country. Danin and Palmon on 11 December noted the start of the
emigration out of Haifa. Most of the Arab movement out of Haifa’s border
areas was due to the fighting — sniping, bombings and demolitions — and
fears of fighting that marked life on the peripheries of each community.
Some Arab families who lived inside or on the edges of Jewish districts on
Mount Carmel were intimidated, possibly at IZL or LHI instruction,
into leaving their homes.*

The intermittent shooting of December culminated in an IZL bombing
at the gates of the Haifa oil refinery, the vengeful Arab massacre of Jewish
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refinery workers and the Haganah reprisal of 31 December at Balad ash
Sheikh, a large satellite village southeast of Haifa. The British, for whom
Haifa was pivotal to their plans for organised withdrawal from Palestine,
increased their patrols and presence in the city and things calmed down.
However the attacks on Balad ash Sheikh and neighbouring Hawassa, and
several Jewish retaliatory strikes inside the Arab downtown districts, had
severely shaken local morale; the Arabs sorely felt the topographical
advantage held by the Jews through their command of the Mount Carmel
high ground, and the Jews’ superiority in organisation, arms and
equipment.*® ““The Haifa Arab public began to feel the weakness of its
position and there were residents who began to emigrate from the city. Of
course, this had a dampening effect on those who remained in the town,”
later recalled Haifa National Committee member Hajj Mohammad Nimr
al Khatib.*!

Mandate Government sources, according to Ben-Gurion, estimated
that by mid-December “15,000-20,000”’ Arabs had fled from Haifa, but
this is probably an exaggeration. The evacuees included Haifa residents
who hailed originally from Egypt and Syria, and some of the city’s
wealthier families. Businesses were closing down, and Arab shopkeepers
were selling their stock to Jews at 259, reductions in order to close up
quickly.#? By 22 January, according to Haganah intelligence, some 20,000
Arabs had left Haifa; Arab sources put the figure at 25,000.43 It is likely
that, over the following weeks, a small number of the early evacuees
returned to the city, only to leave again in April.

The meeting of the Haifa National Committee of 19 January was
dominated by talk of Arab suffering and emigration from the city.** The
National Committee, largely a reflection of Haifa’s Arab business
community, ‘“‘believes that Haifa needs quiet, or at least not to jump to the
head of the [Arab] war [effort]” or that ‘it is in their interest to maintain
peace in Haifa as long as possible.”’45

The committee members, led by chairman Rashid al Hajj Ibrahim,
wanted an end to the fighting but proved unable to completely restrain the
bands of local and foreign irregulars in the city. In mid-January, Ibrahim
travelled to Damascus and Beirut to obtain an AHC or Arab League order
to curb the militias but he was unsuccessful. On 21 January, the National
Committee sent a delegation, headed by the city’s Greek Catholic
archbishop, George Hakim, and by Sheikh Abd al Rahman Murad, a
leading Muslim clergyman, to plead directly with the Mulfti, in Heliop-
olis, Egypt (where Amin al Husayni lived during the war). According to
Haganah intelligence, the delegation intended to demand the removal of
the non-local irregulars from the city; otherwise, the National Committee
would resign and ““Haifa would be evacuated.’’*®
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What the delegation actually told the Mulfti is unclear, though presum-
ably it was nothing that could lay them open to charges of betraying the
Palestinian war effort. The delegation returned, for all practical purposes,
empty-handed. The Mufti had refused to sanction a cease-fire. According
to one Haganah informant, the Mufti had said the problem was a national,
nota local one, and had reportedly ended the meeting on an ominous note:
he had suggested that the Arab struggle against the Jews and the British
“could [end by] destroying half the Arabs in Palestine’’ and had advised
the delegates “‘to remove the women and children from the danger areas in
order to reduce the number of casualties.”*’

The British view of the outcome of the Heliopolis meeting was
somewhat different: the British thought that the Mufti had agreed that all
the irregulars in Haifa be placed under the authority of the local National
Committee.*® If, indeed, this was the agreement, it was never put into
practice. The irregulars remained unruly, initiating attacks on Jewish
targets and drawing down Haganah retaliation, which, in turn, generated
further flight from the Arab neighbourhoods. National Committee
members, such as Victor Khayyat, Farid Sa’ad and Judge Ahmad Bey
Khalil, told Jewish contacts that they were trying to pacify the town but
that the non-local irregulars were being uncooperative and were initiating
outbreaks of fighting.*°

However, the strong British presence, the Haganah’s disinclination to
launch a major attack and the continued resistance of the moderates in the
National Committee to aggressive initiatives by the irregulars combined
to contain the situation in the town. Indeed, the moderates repeatedly
soughtto conclude a truce, lasting at least until 1§ May, with the Haganah.
And by March even the extremists, according to local Haganah intelli-
gence, sought a truce, probably driven, at least in part, by the spectacle of
the steady exodus of the middle classes, which further fighting would only
increase.

The Haganah repeatedly brushed aside these Arab overtures believing
that a formal truce would not be obeyed by the irregulars and that it would
be used by the Arabs to stockpile weaponry. On 30 March, the two Haifa
Mapai leaders, Abba Khoushi and Yosef Almogi, brought Ben-Gurion
yet another Haifa Arab peace proposal, this one conveyed by Archbishop
Hakim to Haifa mayor Shabtai Levy. The Hakim initiative may have been
prompted by the 17 March Haganah ambush north of Haifa, in which a
large Arab arms shipment headed for the city was destroyed and the
commander of the town’s irregulars, Mohammad bin Hammad al
Huneiti, was killed. The blow severely undermined Haifa Arab morale.
Ben-Gurion apparently dismissed the overture. The Haganah city
commander, Ya‘akov Lubliani, opposed a truce. Taking account of
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Lubliani’s views Ben-Gurion on 10 March jotted down in his diary:
“The Arabs are still leaving Haifa> — seemingly linking in his mind
Lubliani’s opposition to a truce with the idea that a truce might halt the
Arab exodus.®?

The food shortages and the sense of military vulnerability and isolation
caused by the presence of Jewish settlements on the city’s access roads
certainly contributed to the demoralisation which underlay the exodus; so
did the concomitant breakdown of law and order. The irregulars robbed
and intimidated the local population, terrorizing the Arab inhabi-
tants they had been sent to protect, in the words of Nimr al Khatib. He
blamed equally the irregulars, the British, for doing nothing, and the
civilians who had fled, leaving behind houses that invited despoliation.5!
‘“‘Bands of robbers organised themselves . . . In March . . . waves of
robbery and theft became frequent in Arab Haifa . . . From day to day, the
feeling grew that Arab Haifa was on the verge of collapse. Anarchy and
disorder prevailed in everything.”” The situation was aggravated that
month by the wholesale desertion and flight of the city’s Arab constables,
who usually took with them their rifles and ammunition.5?

The exodus from Arab Haifa was fairly closely linked to Haganah
retaliatory strikes, Arab attacks and Arab fears of subsequent Jewish
retaliation, but for the better educated, especially the civil servants and
professionals, there were also several, constant long-term considerations.
Ephraim Krischer, a Mapam activist in the town, identified a general fear
of future ‘‘great disorder” as the main reason for this early stage of the
exodus, adding more specifically, that Arab municipal and Mandate
employees feared that ‘““in the Jewish State they wouldn’t have any chance
of advancement in their careers because precedence would be given to
Jews.” This feeling was reinforced by the fact that most Arab officials
lacked fluent Hebrew.53

Mapam’s Arab Department, probably in part on the basis of Krischer’s
report, in March analysed the Arab flight from Haifa. The department
noted the Arabs’ “fears . . . for their future,” both in the transitional pre-
State period and under Jewish rule, and pointed out that it was mainly
“Christians, professionals, officials’’ who were leaving. By 1 March, the
mainly Christian districts of “Old Carmel” and Wadi Nisnas were
“almost completely” empty. “The flight is less marked in the eastern
parts of town, where the poorer classes, who are under the influence of the
extremists, are concentrated,” stated the Department. According to this
analysis, the Christians were mainly worried about the transitional
period, between the end of effective Mandate government and the start of
effective Jewish government. They felt that they would then be “between
the hammer and the anvil, the Arab terrorist operations and Jewish
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reactions.”” Arab public servants feared that their advancement would be
blocked by their “lack of Hebrew.”” Arab railway workers worried about
the fate of the railway under Jewish rule.**

While the Arab National Committee was clearly worried by the exodus,
its efforts to stem it through most of the December 1947 — April 1948
period appear to have been half-hearted and muted. In only one of the 12
communiqueés issued by the Committee over the period did it urge the
Arab community to remain in the city. On 12 December 1947 the
Committee warned against “Fifth Columnists’’ spreading defeatism and
influencing people ‘‘to leave their properties and houses, which have
become easy prey to the enemy who has seized and occupied them . .. Stay
in your places,” the Committee urged. In none of the communiqués,
however, did the Committee explicitly order the population not to leave
Haifa and only in Communiqué No. 5§, of 16 December 1947, was the call
to ‘“‘stay in your houses’ reiterated. Over January—March 1948, the
communiqués failed altogether to order or urge the populace to stay at
home or in the city. Several, however, urged Arabs to ‘‘stay at your posts’’
— referring, apparently, to militiamen and public servants.5®

The National Committee’s failure to act strenuously to halt the exodus
is easily understood. The Committee lacked legal powers to curb the
emigration. More important, the pre-April 1948 exodus encompassed
mostly the middle and upper classes — precisely the social strata from
which the Committee members were drawn. It was their relatives and
friends, first and foremost, who were leaving the embattled city. Indeed,
many of the Committee members were among the evacuees. By 28 March,
according to the Haganah, 11 of the Committee’s 1§ members had left the
town; efforts by chairman Rashid Hajj Ibrahim to lure them back had
failed.’® Those members who had remained behind were hardly in a
position to vilify, condemn or punish would-be evacuees, however
disruptive the exodus was understood to be to the Arab cause and
prospects. This mass flight of the community leaders was to culminate,
with telling effect, during the battle for the city on 21—22 April 1948.

Faffa The exodus from Jaffa, with a pre-war Arab population of some
60,000—70,000, was triggered by the start of hostilities between the town’s
militiamen and the militia forces of neighbouring Tel Aviv, to the north.
No doubt, many of the inhabitants foresaw that the situation would
deteriorate as the date of the British evacuation approached. There were
strong, constant fears of Jewish retaliatory strikes.5”

The exodus began in Jaffa’s border suburbs. Haganah intelligence on 2
December had already reported an exodus from the Manshiya and Abu
Kabir districts: “Empty carts are seen entering and, afterwards, carts
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loaded with belongings are seen leaving.”” Loaded trucks were also seen
leaving Jaffa itself. Jewish intelligence agents monitored conversations
among Jaffa Arabs about leaving. No doubt, the defeatism and exodus of
the border districts spread as a result of the influx of their refugees into
Jaffa proper.s®

Six weeks of hostilities and frequently interdicted traffic had left Jaffa
on the verge of chaos, according to Yishuv intelligence sources. The
LHTI’s destruction of the Jaffa municipality (saraya) with a powerful car-
bomb on 4 January 1948 had an especially devastating effect on local
morale. Utilities and municipal services broke down, and there were
major food shortages. With the flight of middle and upper class families,
businesses closed and unemployment became rife.5® Because of the
hostilities, Jewish employers stopped using Arab labour, aggravating the
unemployment in the town. The local leaders grew resigned and
depressed.

Their defeatism is well illustrated in telephone conversations from
Jaffa, which were intercepted and recorded by IZL intelligence (known as
the “Delek). Jaffa lawyer Sa’id Zain ad Din related to a friend or relative
in Khan Yunis what had happened on the day when the saraya was blown
up. Two of the lawyer’s relatives had been injured and a whole street had
been badly damaged. ‘“Why not move here?’’ asked the man from Khan
Yunis. “We will come soon,’’ said Zain ad Din.

Two days later, on 6 January, the following conversation took place
between Abdul Latif Qaddumi, an officer from the contingent of Nablus
irregulars in Jaffa, and “Abu Ahmad,” from Nablus:

Abdul Larif Qaddumi: ““Where is Abu Fiad Qaddumi?”’

“Abu Ahmad”: “He went to Nazareth.”

Abdul Latif Qaddumi: <1 think I will soon return to Nablus.”

“Abu Ahmad’: “If your people in Jaffa don’t know how to operate and
allow the Jews to do to them as they wish, then leave them and come
[back] here.”

Abdul Latif Qaddumi: “Indeed, they don’t know how to operate here
... I will leave them, let them do as they wish, and [I will] return to
Nablus.”

In a third conversation, also recorded on 6 January, Rafiq Tamimi, the
AHC leader in Jaffa, complained to militia officer Mohammad Khuri that
when he had visited the Jibalya and Manshiya districts, the militiamen
there had said that they lacked food and were unwilling to do guard duty.
Khuri replied that he supplied them with piza (Arab bread) and cheese for
breakfast, tangerines or oranges and piza for lunch and white cheese, pita
and olives for supper. “That’s not enough,” said Tamimi, and recom-
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mended that occasionally they should also be given meat. Khuri replied
“I have no meat.” Throughout, the tapped conversations reveal an
oppressive fear of the Jews and a fear that other local Arab officials were
about to abandon their posts and flee, leaving behind administrative
chaos.*°

By 18 January, the situation in Jaffa was such that an Arab informant
told Sasson: ‘“‘there is no work. Whoever could leave, has left, there is fear
everywhere, and there is no safety. Robbery and theft are common,” and
the National Committee had lost its authority and was expected to
resign.®

The local notables who constituted the Jaffa National Committee were
generally against initiating hostilities with Tel Aviv, fearing Jewish
retaliation. Jaffa mayor Yussuf Haykal probably flew to Cairo in early
December 1947 to obtain Arab League permission to conclude a cease-
fire,% but the Husayni activists in the town were busy provoking incidents
with the Haganah, and undermining the National Committee. At the
same time, the local militia were very poorly armed.?

Through January, and perhaps also early February 1948, some Jaffa
notables, if not the bulk of the National Committee, sought to conclude a
truce agreement with the Haganah. However, the Haganah, as in Haifa,
was reluctant — apparently because they felt that Jaffa, like Haifa, was at
the Yishuv’s mercy and would be beaten to its knees. In February, Ben-
Gurion wrote to Shertok saying that Jaffa mayor Haykal, through a
British intermediary, was trying to secure a peace agreement with Tel
Aviv but that the new, non-local Arab irregulars’ commander, Abdul
Wahab Ali Shihaini, had blocked him. The mayor had said “‘that without
agreement, Jaffa [would] be entirely destroyed.” According to Ben-
Gurion, Shihaini had answered: “I do not mind [the] destruction [of]
Jaffa if we secure [the] destruction [of] Tel Aviv.”’%*

However, to judge from the meeting of the Yishuv political and military
leaders held on 1-2 January, Ben-Gurion and the Haganah commander
were as opposed to a truce between Tel Aviv and Jaffa as Shihaini. The
Haganah, as with Haifa, had the upper hand vis-d-vis Jaffa and had no
intention of letting Jaffa live in peace and be reinforced so long as the
Arabs in other places — principally in Jerusalem —did not allow the Jews to
live in peace. Moreover, the Haganah leaders believed, probably with
justification, that concluding a truce with Jaffa’s civil leaders would not
necessarily lead to a cessation of fire by the irregulars.®®

As in Haifa, the irregulars in Jaffa intimidated the local population,
echoing the experience of 1936—9. ‘““Most of the people who stayed with
their commander, Adel Nijam ad Din, behaved towards the inhabitants
like conquerors. They confiscated their weapons and sold them, imposed
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fines and stole, and confiscated cars and sold them . . . The inhabitants
were more afraid of their defenders/saviours than of the Jews their
enemies,” wrote Nimr al Khatib. Relations between the various, non-
local irregular contingents and the National Committee generally re-
mained poor.%¢

A major reason for the Jaffa National Committee’s reluctance to initiate
hostilities around the town and against Tel Aviv was fears for the citrus
crop, which was then being harvested. The town’s economy in large
measure was based on the citrus industry — especially on orange exports to
Europe through Jaffa port — and the grove-owners and exporters feared
that the Jews would block the movement of the crop.®’

The fears of the Jaffa citrus merchants closely mirrored those of their
neighbouring Jewish citrus owners and exporters in the Coastal Plain and
were largely responsible for the British-mediated gentleman’s agreement
of December that the two sides should not hit each other’s citrus groves,
citrus-carrying trucks and citrus-exporting facilities.s® That agreement,
acquiesced in by the local Tel Aviv Haganah chiefs under pressure from
the local Jewish farmers and businessmen, was opposed by the Haganah
National Staff and became a major subject of debate in the meeting of 1—2
January 1948 between Ben-Gurion and his top defence and Arab affairs
experts. The representatives of the Arab Division, led by Machnes, who
was himself a Coastal Plain orange-grove owner, successfully opposed a
complete blockade of Jaffa — as demanded by several General Staff
members, including Yigael Yadin and Moshe Sneh. The debate on Jaffa
ended with Ben-Gurion concluding that there was general agreement on
the need to “blockade Jaffa’ but that the Arab orange cultivators and
Arab orange shipments should be left alone.®®

The Jewish orange-growers, represented by Yosef Ya'akobson,
through January continued to press for a formal cease-fire agreement with
the Arabs of the citrus-growing areas (around Jaffa, Rehovot, Nes-Ziona
and east and north of Tel Aviv), but to no avail. Ya’'akobson charged that
Haganah troops in the area were intimidating and terrorising Arab orange
cultivators and looting Arab property. Moshe Dayan opposed an
agreement, because this was an area in which the Haganah was stronger
and also because the Arab irregulars could be supplied elsewhere in the
country with food from this area, were it quiescent. Ben-Gurion’s aide,
Levy Shkolnik (Eshkol), argued that the Yishuv needed quiet in the area
during the three months of the orange harvest, but Haganah chiefs Galili
and Yadin said that such a truce would benefit the Arabs more than the
Jews as ““Jaffa and Haifa were Arab weak points.”” An agreement covering
the Coastal Plain would free the Mufti of the pro-peace pressures
emanating from the two towns. Ben-Gurion said that while in general he
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was for limiting the area of hostilities, “I . . . do not believe in the
maintenance of [such a] ceasefire as it will be disrupted.”’”®
However, a complete blockade was not imposed on Jaffa, and the

bilateral orange-picking and exporting continued largely unhampered. In
general, the Haganah knew that the British, for political reasons, would
crush a Jewish attempt to take the Arab town. Between January and mid-
April, the Haganah restricted its activities on the Jaffa front to a partial
siege, limited retaliatory strikes and occasional harassment but refrained —
except in the case of the Abu Kabir district on 12 March — from major

£, operations.

f ﬁ At the same time, Jaffa’s Arab irregulars, because of lack of weapons,

/trained personnel and good commanders, restricted themselves to
sniping, attacking from Abu Kabir Jewish traffic and defensive oper-
ations, but the very meagre assistance in additional manpower and
material provided by the AHC and the Arab states to the town’s defenders
over the weeks and months of semi-siege, punctuated by the occasional
bomb, sniper’s bullet and mortar round, and the knowledge that the Jews
could at any time completely cut off the town, wore down the morale of the
inhabitants. The middle and upper classes, seeing only a bleak future
ahead, continued to leave, further undermining the confidence of the
urban masses.

Ferusalem According to the United Nations Partition resolution, Jerusa-
lem, with about 100,000 Jews and 50,000 Arabs, was to be an international
zone, albeit one lodged in the middle of the Palestine Arab state. Its
hinterland and the access roads to it were dominated by clusters of Arab
villages. When the hostilities erupted, the Jewish neighbourhoods,
mostly in the western part of the town, came under sniping attacks from
the Arab quarters and the community was gradually strangled by the Arab
blockade of the main road westwards, to Tel Aviv. By the end of March,
despite the convoy system and occasional British military assistance, the
city’s Jewish districts were under almost complete siege. However, the
Haganah and the smaller IZL and LHI units in the town were relatively
well-armed and organised, and in the fighting which erupted, the Arab
neighbourhoods along the ‘““seam’ between the two communities and the
semi-isolated Arab quarters in mostly Jewish western Jerusalem were
repeatedly hit.

The depopulation of the Arab neighbourhoods in western Jerusalem
began with the suburb village of Lifta, and the adjacent districts of
Romema and Sheikh Badr, which dominated the beginning of the
Jerusalem-Tel Aviv road. Hostilities there were triggered when the
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Haganah killed the owner, who came from the nearby Arab village of
Qaluniya, of a petrol station in the mixed neighbourhood of Romema;
they had suspected him of informing Arab irregulars about the departure
of Jewish convoys to Tel Aviv. The following day, Qaluniya villagers
avenged the attack by throwing a grenade at a Jewish bus. From then on,
' Jewish and Arab militiamen around Romema and Lifta exchanged fire
L%giaily and the Haganah, IZL and LHI repeatedly raided the two suburbs.
The raids, as was their intention, caused the evacuation of the Arabs of
Lifta and Romema during December 1947 and January 1948.

A British intelligence report described what happened in neighbouring
Sheikh Badr: after a day of Arab sniping, the Haganah, on 11 January,
“took the matter into their own hands and blew up the house of Hajj
Sulayman Hamini, the village mukhtar.” A second raid followed on 13
January, with some 20 houses being damaged, and the suburb, after
receiving a Haganah order, was evacuated. On 16 January, Sheikh Badr
was looted by a Jewish crowd.”

The Arabs living in the prosperous western Jerusalem district of
Qatamon began evacuating their homes after the Haganah bombing of the
Semiramis Hotel on the night of 4-5 January 1948. The Haganah
suspected, mistakenly, that the hotel served as the headquarters of the
“local irregulars. Several Arab families, and the Spanish consul in the city,
died in the explosion, and a sharp dispute broke out inside the Haganah
and with the British authorities. The action was carried out without
Haganah General Staff instruction or consent; Golda Myerson (Meir),
the director of the Jewish Agency Political Department in Jerusalem,
complained that it had been carried out without her knowledge.” High
Commissioner Cunningham took Ben-Gurion personally to task for the
attack. Cunningham described the Yishuv leader as ““clearly upset by this
event’”” and Ben-Gurion, calling the attack ‘“‘entirely wrong,’’ dissociated
himself from it. On 8 January, he informed Cunningham that the
Haganah officer responsible, Mishael Schechter (Shaham), the deputy
commander in Jerusalem, had been removed from his command.”® The
bombing caused major panic in Qatamon. ‘“‘Many flats were evacuated,
but . . . only by women, the old and children. The young men stayed,”
stated a Jewish Agency intelligence report of 8 January.”

Other retaliatory strikes hit Arab border districts, principally Sheikh
Jarrah, at the northern end of town. The cumulative effect of the
hostilities on the whole of the city’s Arab population, not just in the
western parts of the town, was illustrated by a telephone conversation,
tapped by Haganah intelligence, between Dr Husayn Khalidi, the AHC
member, and an Arab merchant identified as Abu Zaki. Khalidi told Abu
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Zaki on 10 January: “Everyone is leaving me. Six [AHC members] are in
Cairo, 2 are in Damascus — I won’t be able to hold on much longer . . .
Jerusalem is lost. No one is left in Qatamon, Sheikh Jarrah has emptied,
people are even leaving the Old City. Everyone who has a cheque or a little
money — is off to Egypt, off to Lebanon, off to Damascus.”’”*

The diary of Palestinian teacher and writer Khalil Sakakini, a resident
of Qatamon, provides an insight into the level of fear and mentality of the
middle class, urban Palestinian at this time. On 30 March he recorded:

§ /The Jews launched a heavy attack on our neighbourhood . . . last night . . . There

{
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were explosions the likes of which were never seen. [Lord] Kitchener, in all his
battles, did not hear what we heard tonight . . . The constant whistle of bullets and
thunderof shells .. . . was unlike anything heard in previous wars . . . No wonder this
situation has made residents consider moving to another neighbourhood or town
. . . What was most distressing and nerve-wracking was the anxiety which has
overcome the women and children . . . Many residents of our neighbourhood have
left for the Old City or Beit Jala, Amman or Egypt.

By 13 April, shortly before he and his family fled from Palestine, Sakakini
was writing: “Day and night, the heavy artillery shelling and firing of
machineguns has been continuous, as if we were on a battlefield . . . Night
falls and we cannot get any sleep, and we say that when the morning comes
we shall leave our neighbourhood of Qatamon for somewhere else, or
leave the country altogether.”7®

It seems that a contributory factor in the flight of the Jerusalem upper
and middle classes was the fear of internecine Arab strife as a by-product
of the Arab—Jewish hostilities. All remembered the events of 1936—9,
when, after the collapse of initial Arab unity, Husayni gunmen assassinat-
ed the moderate Nashashibis and their supporters, and remembered the
terrorisation of the Arab urban rich and villagers by bands of irregulars.””

On 20 January, Israel Zablodovsky (Amir), the Haganah commander in
Jerusalem, reported to Ben-Gurion on the demographic movement in the
city. The officer related that the Haganah had decided in which mixed
Jewish—Arab districts the Jews would stay and ordered them to remain
there. In Romema, which had had an Arab majority, the Jews had
intended to leave ““but the Haganah had not let them,’’ and the Arabs had
left. “The eviction of Arab Romema had eased [the Jewish] traffic
situation,’’ he reported. The Arabs had also evacuated Kerem as Sila,
Sheikh Badr and, in large part, Lifta. “Talbiyeh is also increasingly
becoming Jewish, though a few Arabs remain.”” Sheikh Jarrah’s inhabi-
tants had also decamped.”®

Ben-Gurion summarised what had happened in Jerusalem at a meeting
of Mapai leaders on 7 February.
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From your entry into Jerusalem through Lifta-Romema, through Mahane
Yehuda, King George Street and Mea Shearim - there are no strangers [i.e.,
Arabs). One hundred per cent Jews. Since Jerusalem’s destruction in the days of
the Romans — it hasn’t been so Jewish as it is now. In many Arab districts in the
west — one sees not one Arab. I do not assume that this will change.

Ben-Gurion added that

what had happened in Jerusalem . . . could well happen in great parts of the
country —if we [the Yishuv] holdon. .. And if we hold on, it is very possible thatin
the coming six or eight or ten months of the war there will take place great changes
...and not all of them to our detriment. Certainly there will be great changes in the
composition of the population of the country.”®

Ben-Gurion’s view of what was happening and what would and should
happen nationwide was embodied in his instructions to David Shaltiel,
the new Haganah OC in Jerusalem. On § February, Ben-Gurion ordered
the new OC to conquer Arab districts and to settle Jews in the abandoned
and conquered Arab districts.®° On 12 February, after a Jewish woman
had been shot in Talbiyeh, a Haganah loudspeaker van toured the
neighbourhood ordering the remaining Arab residents to leave or else
“they and their property would be blown up. The van and its occupants
were arrested,’ states a British report, but “the Arabs did evacuate.”’®!

During January, many Arab families evacuated the ‘“‘seam’ districts of
Musrara and Schneller and the suburban districts or villages of Beit
Safafa, Abu Dis, Al 'Eizariya (Bethany) and Beit Sahur. Over the
following weeks, more Arab families moved out of Qatamon, the ‘“‘seam’
neighbourhoods and various rural suburbs of Jerusalem. Western
Jerusalem became completely Jewish and the eastern Arab parts of the
city were partially evacuated.

The beginning of the exodus of the Arab rural population, December 1947

March 1948

/ /I‘ he Arab flight from the countryside began, with a trickle, from a handful
of villages, in December 1947, and became a steady, though still small-
scale, emigration over January—February 1948. In March, in certain parts
of the country, the rural emigration turned into an exodus. In general, the
emigration was a direct result of, and response to, specific Haganah (and,
in small measure, IZL) attacks and retaliatory strikes and to fears of such ‘
attacks, and it was confined to the areas hit by hostilities and/or adjacent to -
Jewish centres of population. Several communities were attacked or
surrounded and expelled by Haganah units and several others were
deliberately intimidated into flight by IZL operations. A small number of
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sites were abandoned or partially abandoned as a result of pressure or
commands by Arab irregulars.

The Coastal Plain The flight from the countryside during this period was
most pronounced in the Coastal Plain (the Sharon), between Tel Avivand
Hadera, where the Jews were in the majority and which, according to the
United Nations Partition resolution, was to be the core of the Jewish
State.

The first village to be largely abandoned was Khirbet ‘Azzun (Tabsar),
just north of Ra’anana, on 21 December 1947, apparently out of fear of
Jewish attack. The next to follow were Al Mas'udiya (Summeil), a few
hundred yards north of Tel Aviv, on 25 December, which was completely
evacuated, and neighbouring Jammasin, on 7 January 1948, which was
partially evacuated. The flight from the two was apparently also due to
fear. Itis worth noting that the inhabitants of Al Mas'udiya fled in the first
instance to Jammasin, probably infecting the host villagers with ““flight
fever’’; the guests brought with them a contagious fear and a model of how
to respond to the situation — a pattern of temporary refugees precipitating
flight by their host communities, to be repeated throughout the country in
the following months.

Further to the north, the first weeks of war were marked by the flight
eastwards, out of Jewish-dominated areas, of several bedouin tribes or
sub-tribes—the 'Arab Balauna on 31 December 1947, the ‘Arab Abu Razk
on 31 January 1948, the 'Arab an Nuseirat on 3 February and the 'Arab
Shudkhi on 11 February. Most of these bedouins evacuated because of
fear of Jewish attack. The 'Arab an Nuseirat fled after an actual Haganah
attack and the ‘Arab Shudkhi after an attack on their encampment by the
I1ZL.

In the following days, the Sharon was evacuated by other tribes and
sub-tribes, including the ‘Arab ar Rumeilat and the 'Arab Hawitat, both
on 15 February, the’Arab Hijazi on 25 February, the Wadi al Hawarith on
15 March, the ‘Arab al Kuz on 23 March, the ‘Arab Abu Kishk and the
‘Arab as Sawalima, both on 30 March, and the ‘Arab Amarir, the 'Arab al
Huk and the ‘Arab al Falk, all on 3 April. According to Haganah
intelligence, the flight was largely motivated by fear of Jewish attack. The
‘Arab ar Rumeilat encampments (near Netanya, Kibbutz Hama'apil and
Kadima) were evacuated after Haganah intelligence mounted a psycho-
logical warfare operation geared to obtaining their departure. The Wadi al
Hawarith were attacked and apparently also advised to leave by Haganah
intelligence (though earlier, it seems that friendly Jewish local leaders had
asked the Wadi al Hawarith to remain). Fear prompted the departure of
the ‘Arab as Sawalima after the IZL operation at Sheikh Muwannis (see
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chapter 3). One encampment of ‘Arab Abu Kishk was attacked and
expelled by an IZL force.??

Like the bedouins, the villagers of the Sharon decamped over
December 1947 — March 1948 mainly because of Haganah or IZL attacks
or fear of such attacks.

The inhabitants of Arab Caesarea, who lived on leased Jewish (PICA)
lands, began to evacuate out of fear on 12 January, and others followed on
9 February. On 15 February the village was captured and most of its
remaining inhabitants fled or were ordered to leave. Some 20 villagers
stayed behind but were expelled on 20 February, after a Palmah unit
surrounded the village and destroyed the Arabs’ houses. The Haganah
perhaps feared that the British army would occupy the village and use it as
a base to stop Jewish illegal immigration into Palestine.

This operation was preceded by a Haganah General Staff decision,
apparently taken in the first days of February, which was reported to
Mapam’s Political Committee by Galili on § February. The decision to
destroy the houses, which were mostly Jewish property, was opposed by
Yitzhak Rabin, the Palmah’s OC Operations, but he was overruled.
Thirty houses were demolished; six were left intact for lack of explosives.
The Caesarea Arabs, according to Mapam’s Aharon Cohen, had ‘““done all
in their power to keep the peace in their village and around it . . . The
villagers supplied agricultural produce to the Jewish market in Haifa and
Hadera.” Caesarea was the first pre-planned, organised expulsion of an
Arab community by the Haganah in 1948.%3

However, the majority of the Sharon’s Arab villages were evacuated
because their inhabitants feared the Yishuv and felt isolated from the
Arab centres of population and highly vulnerable. Al Mirr, northeast of
Petah Tikva, was abandoned on 3 February out of ‘‘general fear,”
according to the IDF Intelligence Department. Al Haram (Sidna Ali),
west of Herzliya, was abandoned on the same day because of “fear of
hostilities.”” Fajja, adjacent to Petah Tikva, was partially abandoned on 17
February after an IZL attack. Jammasin was left by its last inhabitants on
17 March out of ‘“general fear.” Umm Khalid, east of Netanya, was
evacuated on 20 March for similar reasons. Jaramla, whose inhabitants
began to leave on 8 February after being instructed to do so by Arab
irregulars, was finally abandoned on 1 April out of “general fear.’®* In
addition, the commanders of Arab irregulars in the Sharon ordered
women and children to be evacuated eastwards, ‘“to safety,” from a
number of villages in late February and early March.®s In other places, the
departure or retreat of garrisons of irregulars affected the local inhabi-
tants, who also took flight.¢
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Flight from other rural communities, December 1947—March 1948 ‘“There
is a tendency among our neighbours . . . to leave their villages,” the
director of the Jewish National Fund’s L.ands Department, Yosef Weitz,
wrote on 31 March 1948 to the JNF’s chairman, Avraham Granovsky
(Granott). Weitz, writing after a visit to the North, cited the organised
departure, in British army trucks, of the inhabitants of Qumiya in the
Jezreel Valley on 26 March.?”

This “tendency” was being promoted and expanded in part by Weitz
himself, who was responsible for the Yishuv’s land acquisition and, in
great measure, for the establishment of new settlements. Soon after the
start of hostilities, Weitz realised that the circumstances were ripe for
the “Judaization” of tracts of land bought and owned by Jewish institu-
tions (the JNF, PICA) on which Arab tenant farmer communities
continued to squat. Under the British, the Yishuv had generally been
unable to remove these inhabitants from the land, despite offering
generous compensatory payments. Indeed, on occasion, Arab tenant-
farmers accepted Jewish compensation and then reneged on their
promises to decamp.

The conditions of war and anarchy of early 1948, Weitz understood, at
last enabled the Yishuv to physically take possession of these tracts of
land. There was also pressure by local Jewish settlers to take over these
areas and to remove the tenant farmers. Weitz related on 31 March that
Jewish farmers from Nahalal, the Beit Shean (Beisan) Valley and Kfar
Yehezkeel had come to him in Haifa to discuss ““the problem of our lands
in those places with regard to our possession and their liberation from the
hands of tenant farmers. We agreed on certain lines of action in certain
conditions . . .”’%8

However, Weitz was not, as he sometimes liked to make out in contacts
with Granovsky, the mere voice of the Jewish settlements; he was an
executive, an initiator of thinking and policy. Already in early January
1948, Weitz’s perception of how to solve the Arab tenant farmer problem
was beginning to crystallise. After meeting with JNF officials in the North
about the tenant farmers in Yoqne'am and Daliyat ar Ruha, Weitz wrote
in his diary: “Is not now the time to be rid of them? Why continue to keep
in our midst these thorns at a time when they pose a danger to us? Our
people are weighing up [solutions].”’®® On 20 February Weitz noted that
bedouins in the largely Jewish-owned Beisan Valley, some of whom were
living on Jewish-owned lands, were beginning to cross over to the Trans-
jordan. “Itis possible that now is the time to implement our original plan:
To transfer them there.”*°
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The following month, Weitz, on his own initiative, began to implement
his solution to the problem of tenant farmers. First he tried, and failed, to
obtain a Haganah General Staff decision in principle to evict the tenant
farmers. Then, using his personal contacts in the settlements and local
Haganah units, and Haganah Intelligence Service officers, he organised
several evictions. At Yoqne'am, southeast of Haifa, he persuaded
intelligence officer Yehuda Burstein to “‘advise” the local tenant farmers
and those in neighbouring Qira wa Qamun to leave, which they did. Weitz
and his JNF colleagues in the North then decided to raze the tenant
farmers’ houses and to destroy their crops, and to pay the evicted Arabs
compensation.®® At the same time, he organised with the settlers of
Kibbutz Kfar Masaryk the eviction of the Ghawarina bedouins in Haifa
Bay, who were also squatters on Jewish land, and the eviction of small
tenant farmer communities from Daliyat ar Ruha and Al Buteimat,
southeast of Haifa.*?

Towards the end of March, Weitz began pressing the military—political
leadership — Galili, Ben-Gurion and Shkolnik (Eshkol) - for a decision at
national level to expel the Arabs from the Jewish State area defined by the
Partition plan, but his continuous representations and lobbying met with
resistance or deflection; the leaders either rejected, or were unwilling to
commit themselves to, a general policy or strategy of expulsion.®3 Weitz,
at this stage, was therefore forced to privately promote local eviction and
expulsion operations. On 26 March, for example, at a meeting with JNF
officials, he called for the expulsion of the inhabitants of Qumiya and At
Tira, to the northeast, arguing that the inhabitants of the two villages were
“not taking upon themselves the responsibility of preventing the
infiltration of irregulars . . . They must be forced to leave their villages
until peace comes.’’®*

While in general the Haganah rejected a policy of expulsion, its strategy
of forceful retaliation in the first months of the conflict resulted in the
flight of a number of rural communities. The semi-bedouin settlement of
Mansurat al Kheit, on the Jordan, was temporarily evacuated during a
Haganah retaliatory strike on 18 January. Nearby Al Huseiniya was
completely evacuated, as were neighbouring Al ‘Ulmaniya and, tempo-
rarily, Kirad al Ghannama, near Lake Hula, in mid-March following a
Palmah strike on Al Huseiniya which left dozens of dead. The strike
followed an Arab landmine attack on Jewish traffic near Yesud Hama’ala
on 10 March.%

Elsewhere in the north, several Arab villages were completely or partly
abandoned during the early months of the conflict out of a feeling of
isolation and a sense of vulnerability to Jewish attack. The inhabitants of
Al 'Ubeidiya, south of the Sea of Galilee, left for the Nazareth area on 3

56




The first wave

March. Many of the inhabitants, especially the rich, of nearby Samakh,
left during the first months of the war for similar reasons, and the village
was completely evacuated at the end of April.

In the south, the hostilities around the Yishuv’s water pipeline to its
isolated Negev settlements resulted in March in the flight of bedouin and
semi-bedouin communities from their encampments as Arab irregulars
blew up the pipeline and Palmah units retaliated by attacking nearby Arab
encampments.®®

Arab attitudes to the exodus, December 1947 — March 1948

The Arab reactions to the start of the Palestinian exodus over December
1947 to March 1948 was confused and uncoordinated — mirroring the
confusion and lack of co-operation between the Arab states, between the
states-and the AHC, between the states, the AHC and the National
Committees, the AHC and the foreign Arab volunteer contingents, and
between the National Committees and local leaders and the bands of
irregulars and militiamen in each locality during the first months of the
war.

The exodus at first appeared merely to reproduce what had happened in
1936—9, when approximately 40,000 Palestinians had temporarily fled
from the country.®” As then, the evacuees who reached the Arab states
during the first months of the war were mainly middle and upper class
families, whose arrival was barely felt and was certainly not burdensome
to the host countries. The rural evacuees from the Coastal Plain and north
mainly headed, at least initially, for Arab centres of population and
villages to the east, inside Palestine (the Jenin—Tulkarm—Nablus tri-
angle). It seems likely that most of the evacuees regarded their dislocation
as temporary.

Hence, until the end of March, the exodus had slight impact in the Arab
states and troubled their leaders little, if atall. During this period the Arab
states did nothing to precipitate flight from Palestine, but, feeling obliged
to accept fellow Arab refugees from a holy war with the Jews, they did
nothing initially to bar the refugees from entry. Indeed, even before the
war, in September 1947, the Arab League Political Committee expected,
and theoretically made provision for, an influx of “women, old people and
children” from Palestine into their countries. The AHC seems to have
opposed this and argued against giving visas to refugees from Palestine.®®

On anational level, however, Syria and Lebanon had begun to sense by
December 1947 that a problem might develop along their borders. On 21
December the Syrian newspaper A/ Ayyam reported that Damascus and
Beirut had asked the AHC to influence the Palestinians along their
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borders not to flee to Syria and Lebanon but to stay put and fight.*® Yet,
by and large, until May 1948 the Arab states put no physical or legal
obstacles to entry in the path of emigrating Palestinians.

By late January, the AHC was itself worried by the phenomenon,
according to British military intelligence. Those who had left, the British
reported, had been ordered by the Mulfti to return to their homes ‘‘and, if
they refuse, their homes will be occupied by other [foreign] Arabs sent to
reinforce [Arab defences in] the areas.’’*°® Elias Koussa, an Arab lawyer
from Haifa, years later recalled that the Mufti in 1948 had had a “‘stay in
Palestine” or “‘return home’’ attitude.'® The Mufti had apparently been
especially concerned about the flight from Palestine of army-age males.

However, at this time the Mufti and the AHC did not mount a clear,
consistent and forceful campaign against the flight from Palestine.
Perhaps they were not overly perturbed by the phenomenon which was
still relatively small-scale. Perhaps, also, the Husaynis were not altogether
unhappy with the departure from Palestine of many of the middle and
upper class families who were traditionally identified with the Oppo-
sition. Moreover, the exodus of December 1947 — March 1948 included
families and members of families affiliated to the Husaynis themselves,
including many AHC members: to condemn them too strongly for fleeing
might prompt dissension and backbiting within the Husayni camp. In
general, the Palestinian leaders were quicker to condemn flight from the
villages than to condemn the exodus of their urban relatives. In addition,
the Mufti and the AHC had only an infirm grip on events and
developments in the localities around Palestine. The fact that Amin al
Husayni disapproved of flight was no assurance that local National
Committees or irregular contingents would do much to stop it. As we have
seen, the local leaderships and militias had their own set of concerns and
priorities. In various parts of the country, especially in the cities, National
Committees were hampered in halting the exodus by the fact that many of
the evacuees were from among their own kith and kin. Indeed, National
Committee members were prominent among the evacuees. By and large,
the local leaderships and militia commanders, whether in obedience to the
AHC or independently, discouraged flight, even to the extent of issuing
formal threats and imposing penalties, but it all proved of little avail.

Haganah intelligence noted the continuing Arab exodus and the local
Arab leaders’ efforts to stem it: “The Arab institutions are barring {the
flight] of those wishing to settle abroad. [But] they are still not preventing
the departure of those [claiming to] leave for other reasons, despite [the
fact that] many of these are [in fact, would-be refugees], apparently
because of a lack of an appropriate apparatus to check these cases.”’'%?

Another reason for the failure of the Arab institutions at this time to
stem the exodus was the caveat endorsed by the Arab states, the Muftiand
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some of the National Committees themselves, regarding women, the old
and children. Amin al Husayni at times explicitly permitted and even
encouraged the evacuation of women, children and old people from
combat zones or prospective combat zones in order to reduce the
possibility of Arab civilian casualties. He may also have believed,
mistakenly, that the departure of dependents would heighten the males’
fighting motivation. On 8 March, the AHC issued a circular advising the
National Committees to move out ‘““‘women, children and the old” from
combat or potential combat zones,!?® but the flight of the dependents
seems, in the end, to have weakened rather than strengthened the resolve
of the menfolk to stay and fight.

In general, the National Committee members who had remained in

Palestine regarded the exodus negatively. Their approach was perhaps
embodied in an article in As Sarikh, an Iraqi-financed Jaffa paper, on 30
March:
The inhabitants of the large village of Sheikh Muwannis and of several other Arab
villages in the neighbourhood of Tel Aviv have brought a terrible disgrace upon all
of us by quitting their villages bag and baggage. We cannot help comparing this
disgraceful exodus with the firm stand of the Haganah in all localities in Arab
territory . . . Everyone knows that the Haganah gladly enters the battle while we
always flee from it.1%¢

The period between December 1947 and March 1948 saw the start of the
exodus of Palestine’s Arabs from the areas earmarked for Jewish
statehood and areas adjacent to them. The spiral of violence precipitated
mass flight by the Arab middle and upper classes from the big towns,
especially Haifa, Jaffa and Jerusalem, and their satellite rural communi-
ties. It also prompted the piecemeal, but almost complete, evacuation of
the Arab rural population from what was to be the heartland of the Jewish
State—the Coastal Plain between Tel Avivand Hadera—and a small-scale,
partial evacuation of other rural areas hit by hostilities and containing
large Jewish concentrations, namely the Jezreel and Jordan valleys.

The Arab evacuees from the towns and villages left largely because of
Jewish — Haganah, IZ1. or LHI —attacks or fear of impending attack, and
from a sense of vulnerability to such attack. The feeling that the Arabs
were weak and the Jews very strong was widespread and there was a
steadily increasing erosion of the Arabs’ confidence in Arab military
power. Most of the evacuees, especially the prosperous urban families,
never thought in terms of permanent refugeedom and exile; they
contemplated an absence from Palestine or its combat zones similar to that
of 1936—9, lasting only until the hostilities were over and, they hoped, the
Yishuv vanquished. They expected the intervention, and possibly
victory, of the Arab states.
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Only an extremely small, almost insignificant number of the refugees of
this early period left because of Haganah or IZL. or LHI expulsion orders
or forceful ““advice” to that effect, or, from the other side, such orders
from Arab military and political leaders. In various areas, in Jerusalem
and in some villages, Arab women and children were evacuated on orders
or advice from Arab leaders out of fear for their safety rather than as part of
any general policy or strategy of evacuation.

Neither the Yishuv, the Palestine Arab leadership nor the Arab states
during these months had a policy of removing or moving the Arabs out of
Palestine or the Jewish-dominated parts of Palestine. With the exception
of the tenant farmers, the few expulsions that occurred in these first
months were dictated by Haganah strategic considerations; the few cases
where Arab local commanders ordered a village to be evacuated or
partially evacuated occurred for similar reasons.

In general, during the first months of war until April 1948, the
Palestinian leadership struggled, if not very manfully, against the exodus.
“The AHC decided . . . to adopt measures to weaken the exodus by
imposing restrictions, penalties, threats, propaganda in the press [and] on
the radio . . . The AHC tried to obtain the help of neighbouring countries
in this context . . . [The AHC] especially tried to prevent the flight of
army-age young males,”” according to IDF intelligence.!%5 But there was
no stopping the exodus.

60




Chapter 3

The second wave: the mass exodus, April-June
1948

The Yishuv looked to the end of March with grim foreboding: it was a
community with its back to the wall in almost every sense. Politically, the
United States appeared to be withdrawing from its earlier commitment to
Partition and a Jewish State, and was pressing for “trusteeship’ — an
extension of Great Power rule — in Palestine beyond 15 May. Militarily,
the Arab campaign along the roads, which was interdicting Jewish traffic,
was slowly strangling the Jewish towns and threatening the existence of
the outlying, rural settlements. Most Jewish settlements had Arab
neighbours; Arab villages and towns sat astride the roads between the
Jewish settlements. Some clusters of Jewish settlements were in par-
ticular jeopardy. The Galilee panhandle settlements could be reached
only via the Jordan Valley road and the Nahariya—Upper Galilee road,
both of which were dominated by Arab villages. Nahariya and the kib-
butzim of Western Galilee were cut off from Jewish Haifa by Acre and a
string of Arab villages. Haifa itself could not be reached from Tel Aviv via
the main coastal highway since At Tira, Ijzim, Jaba and 'Ein Ghazal
dominated the northern sector. The veteran Mapam kibbutz, Mishmar
Ha’emek, which dominated the potential major route of advance for an
Arab army from the Jenin—-Nablus—Tulkarm triangle (henceforward re-
ferred to as the Triangle) to Haifa, was surrounded by Arab villages. To
the south, the 100,000 Jews of Jerusalem were almost completely besieged
and running low on ammunition and food. In the Hebron Hills, the four
kibbutzim of the Etzion Bloc were under siege, and the cluster of 15 or so
Jewish settlements in the Negev were each under intermittent siege, with
their vital water pipeline continuously sabotaged by marauding bedouin.
Three major Jewish convoys, the Yehiam convoy, the Nabi Daniyal
convoy and the Khulda convoy, were ambushed and destroyed during the
last week of March, with the loss of more than 100 Haganah troops and the
bulk of the Haganah’s armoured truck fleet. The British evacuation,
which would remove the last vestige of law and order in the cities and on
the roads, was only weeks away, and the neighbouring Arab states were
openly threatening to intervene and invade Palestine. The Yishuv was
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struggling for its life; an invasion by the Arab states, including the British-
officered Arab Legion, could deliver the coup de grace.

It was with this situation and prospect in mind that the Haganah chiefs,
in early March, produced ‘“Tochnit Dalet” (Plan D), a blueprint for
securing the emergent Jewish State and the clusters of Jewish settlements
outside the State’s territory against the expected Arab invasion on or after
15 May. The battle against the local and foreign irregulars had to be won
first if there was to be a chance of defeating the invading regular Arab
armies. To win the battle of the roads, the Haganah had to pacify the Arab
villages and towns that dominated them: pacification perforce meant
either the surrender of the villages or their depopulation and destruction.
The essence of the plan was the clearing of hostile and potentially hostile
forces out of the interior of the prospective territory of the Jewish State,
establishing territorial continuity between the major concentrations of
Jewish population and securing the Jewish State’s future borders before,
and in anticipation of, the Arab invasion. As the Arab irregulars were
based and quartered in the villages, and as the militias of many villages
were participating in the anti-Yishuv hostilities, the Haganah regarded
most of the villages as actively or potentially hostile.

Plan D’s architects, headed by Haganah OC Operations Yigael Yadin,
did not know whether the British would withdraw piecemeal and
gradually from various areas of the country during the months and weeks
before 15 May or whether they would pull out en masse on or just before
that date. In any case, Yadin and the officers envisaged activating the plan
on or about 15 May, with preparations for its implementation beginning
on 7 May. However, the military realities of clogged Jewish lines of
communication, of besieged and slowly asphyxiated settlements, and of
gradual and early British withdrawal from various areas forced the
Haganah General Staff to bring forward its timetable. The implementa-
tion over April-May followed hard on the heels of the successive British
military withdrawals from each district. The Haganah offensives gener-
ally followed the geographical, strategic and tactical guidelines set down
in the plan; but, in part, they were also dictated by the specific
requirements of situation and Jewish peril in the various districts. The
plan augured a quick end to the civil and guerrilla war that was raging
between the thoroughly intermixed Arab and Jewish populations and a
switch to straightforward or almost straightforward conventional warfare
after the expected Arab invasion on or after 15 May.

Plan D was not a political blueprint for the expulsion of Palestine’s
Arabs: it was governed by military considerations and was geared to
achieving military ends. But, given the nature of the war and the
admixture of the two populations, securing the interior of the Jewish State
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for the impending battle along its borders in practice meant the
depopulation and destruction of villages that hosted hostile local militia
and irregular forces.

The plan called for “operations against enemy settlements which are in
the rear of, within or near our defence lines, with the aim of preventing
their use as bases for an active armed force.’’ For the first time in Haganah
strategy during the war, Plan D provided for the conquest and permanent
occupation, or levelling, of Arab villages and towns. It instructed that the
Arab villages should be surrounded and searched for weapons and
irregulars. In the event of resistance, the armed forces in the village should
be destroyed and the inhabitants should be expelled from the State. In the
event of non-resistance, the village should be disarmed and garrisoned.
Some hostile villages (the report does not specify which ones) were to be
destroyed ““‘([by] burning, demolition and mining of the ruins)—especially
.. . villages that we are unable to permanently control.”’ The Haganah
wanted to preclude the renewed use of such villages as anti-Yishuv bases.*

The plan, which reached all brigade OCs and district commanders, and
probably also many battalion-level commanders, was neither used nor
regarded by the Haganah senior field officers as a blanket instruction for
the expulsion of the country’s civilian inhabitants. But, in providing for
the expulsion of communities and/or destruction of villages that had
resisted the Haganah, it constituted a strategic—ideological anchor and
basis for expulsions by front, district, brigade and battalion commanders
(who in each case argued military necessity) and it gave commanders, post
facto, a formal, persuasive covering note to explain their actions.

However, during April-June relatively few Haganah commanders
faced the dilemma of whether or not to carry out the expulsion clauses of
Plan D. The Arab townspeople and villagers usually fled from their
homes before or during battle; the Haganah commanders had rarely to
decide about, or issue, expulsion orders (though they usually prevented
inhabitants who had initially fled from returning home after the dust of
battle had settled).

Plan D aside, there is no trace of any decision-making by the Yishuv’s or
Haganah’s supreme bodies in March or early April in favour of a blanket,
national policy of driving out the Arabs. Had such a decision in principle
been taken by the People’s Administration, the Jewish Agency Executive,
the Defence Committee or the Haganah General Staff, it would have left
traces in the sources. Nor — perhaps surprisingly in retrospect — is there
evidence, with the exception of one or two important but isolated
statements by Ben-Gurion, of any general expectation in the Yishuv of a
mass exodus of the Arab population from the Jewish or any other part of
Palestine. Such an exodus may have been regarded by most Yishuv
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leaders as desirable; but in late March and early April, it was not regarded
as necessarily likely or imminent. When it occurred, it surprised even the
most optimistic and hardline Yishuv executives, including the leading
advocate of the transfer policy, Yosef Weitz. On 22 April 1948 he visited
Haifa, witnessed the start of the mass exodus and wondered about “the
reason . . . Eating away at my innards are fears . . . that perhaps a plot is
being hatched [between the British and the Arabs] against us . . . Maybe
the evacuation will facilitate the war against us.” The following day he
wrote: ‘“‘Something in my unconscious is frightened by this flight.’”?

However, from the beginning of April, there are clear traces of an
expulsion policy on both national and local levels with respect to certain
key strategic districts and localities. Sometime during 7-9 April Ben-
Gurion and the Haganah General Staff, under the impact of the dire
condition of Jewish Jerusalem and the AL A attack on Mishmar Ha'emek,
and under pressure from local Jewish settlements and Haganah com-
manders, decided, in conformity with the general guidelines of Plan D, to
clear out and destroy the clusters of hostile or potentially hostile Arab
villages dominating vital axes. A policy of clearing out Arab communities
sitting astride vital routes was instituted. Sometime during 8-10 April
orders went out from the General Staff to the Haganah units involved to
clear away and, if necessary, expel most of the remaining Arab rural
communities along the Tel Aviv-Hadera axis, the Jenin—Haifa road
(around Mishmar Ha'emek) and along the Jerusalem-Tel Aviv road.
Exceptions were made only of Al Fureidis and the 'Arab al Ghawarina
(Khirbet Jisr az Zarqa) on the Tel Aviv—-Haifa road and Abu Ghosh on the
Tel Aviv—Jerusalem road.

Reinforcement of this policy and an insight into Ben-Gurion’s views in
the matter were provided at a meeting between Ben-Gurion and two of his
Arab affairs advisers on 6 May. The three agreed, regarding “‘trouble-
some [Arab] villages [kfarim mafri'im],” that, concerning ‘‘an Arab village
that hinders the Yishuv’s plans or is provocative, the Arab Affairs
Department has permission to decide on its removal [si/uko].””?

Military action “‘in the spirit of” Plan D began at the start of April with
Operation Nahshon, in which the Haganah, temporarily lifting the siege
of Jewish Jerusalem, for the first time permanently took and occupied an
Arab village (Al Qastal, 2—-9 April) and levelled other villages (Qaluniya,
11 April; Khulda, 20 April). At the same time, in the battles for Mishmar
Ha’emek (4—15 April) and Ramat Yohanan (15-17 April), the Haganah
underlined the radical shift in strategy, in accordance with the precepts of
Plan D, by taking, permanently occupying and/or levelling a cluster of
Arab villages. The formal, premature implementation of Plan D began a
few days later with the conquest of Arab Tiberias (16—18 April)and Arab
Haifa (21—22 April).
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The society against which the offensives of Plan D were to be un-
leashed, had, as we have seen already undergone months of strain and
corrosion. Palestinian arms, supplemented by a steady stream of foreign
volunteers, had partially succeeded in wearing down the Haganah and had
severely curbed Jewish use of the roads, but while many Jewish
settlements remained under semi-permanent siege, the Arab forces had
failed to capture any of them, although not for lack of effort. Worse,
Jewish ambushes and road-blocks had in turn isolated many Arab
settlements and a feeling of siege was apparent in the two main Arab
centres, Haifa and Jaffa. The flight of the middle and upper classes from
these towns and from Jerusalem during the previous months had severely
undermined general morale; so had the gradual breakdown of law and
order in the Arab neighbourhoods, which stemmed from the influx of the
armed foreign volunteers and the concomitant devolution, and expecta-
tions of the imminent devolution, of British government.*

The process of disintegration accelerated in April. Policemen ran off
with their weapons; increasing numbers of officials failed to arrive for
work. The volunteers stole property, molested women and in general
intimidated the townspeople, and at the same time did not carry out their
martial duties with particular effectiveness or in a manner likely to
maintain the communities’ confidence in their ability to beat off, let alone
defeat, the Haganah.’ In addition, the Palestinian Arabs’ “national’ sense
of isolation from the surrounding Arab world was continually reinforced
by the repeated rejections by the Arab States, the AHC and the Defence
Committee in Damascus of requests for arms from this or that village or
town. Furthermore, in the towns there were intermittent food shortages,
sharp price rises and widespread unemployment.

By and large the situation in the villages was better than that in the
cities; the villages were more or less economically autarkic and not all areas
of the country were engulfed or seriously affected by the conflagration.
However, most of the villages, in one way or another, were affected by
what happened in the cities, to which they looked for leadership,
information and support. In the area around Tel Aviv and Jaffa, in the
Jerusalem corridor, in eastern Galilee and in the Negev, the villagers were
also directly caught up in the fighting, sustaining losses and Haganah
attacks. The general slide into lawlessness, fears about the harvest of
summer crops and about whether the Jews would interfere and burn
fields, fear of the Haganah and of the IZL, and concern about what would
happen when the British left, in varying degrees all affected the villagers.

The Haganah’s offensives in April caught the Arab states and the AHC
by surprise; so did the mass exodus which they precipitated. For several
weeks, the Arab world failed to react to the evacuation — until the exodus
from Haifa (22—-30 April). Given the poor communications, it probably
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took some days for them to learn of, and understand, what was happening,
especially regarding the exodus from the countryside. Perhaps some of
the leaders feared to make too much of the exodus lest they stoke up public
pressure in their own countries to invade Palestine even before the British
withdrawal. In terms of propaganda value, and as a priori justification for
their contemplated invasion of Palestine, nothing suited better than the
exodus, which could be —and was — presented to the world as a deliberate,
mass expulsion of the Arabs by Jews. And, alternatively, if there were
uncoerced evacuations, surely they demonstrated — again to the benefit of
Arab propaganda — that Arabs were unwilling to live under Jewish rule,
making nonsense of the minority provisions in the Partition resolution. In
any case, no one regarded the exodus as permanent; surely the refugees
would within weeks return to their homes, in the wake of the Arab
invaders?

Whatever the reasoning and attitudes of the Arab states’ leaders, I have
found no contemporary evidence to show that either the leaders of the
Arab states or the Mufti ordered or directly encouraged the mass exodus
during April. It may be worth noting that for decades the policy of the
Palestinian Arab leaders had been to hold fast to the soil of Palestine and to
resist the eviction and displacement of Arab communities.

Two qualifications are necessary, one relating to the continued pro-
motion of the evacuation of women, children and the old from front line or
potential front line areas, and the other to the compulsory evacuation of
specific villages by order of Arab military or political leaders for mainly
military reasons.

During April, the irregulars and at least some of the National Com-
mittees, apparently at the behest of the AHC, continued to promote,
either out of inertia or in line with reiterated policy, the departure from
combat and potential combat zones of women, children and the old. Ben-
Gurion at the start of the month speculated with regard to this partial
evacuation from the Coastal Plain villages: ““Possibly it is being done
because of pressure from the gangs’ [i.e., irregulars’] commanders out of
Arab strategic needs: Women and children are moved out and fighting
gangs are moved in.”’® His remarks were based on Haganah intelligence
reports. On 22 April the National Committee in Jerusalem, citing the
AHC circular of 8 March, ordered its local branches around Jerusalem
(Sheikh Jarrah, Wadi Joz, Musrara, Qatamon, etc.) to move out their
women, children and old people ‘“to places more distant, away from the
dangers.” The National Committee warned that resistance to this order
by the local branches would be seen as ‘“‘an obstacle to the Holy War
[ Fihad] and in the way of the fighters, and would hamper their actions in
these neighbourhoods.””” On 24 April, the ALA ordered the inhabitants of
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Al Fureidis, south of Haifa, to evacuate their women and children from
the village, ‘“‘and make ready to evacuate [the village] completely.”’® A few
days later, the Arabs around Rosh Pinna, in the Eastern Galilee, were
ordered to evacuate their women and children, the men staying ““to guard
the settlements.”’® Even units of the Arab Legion, until 14 May nominally
a part of the British Army, in early May ordered the evacuation of women
and children from Beisan in order to better defend it against Jewish
attack.'®

During April-May, more than 20 Arab villages were largely or
completely evacuated because of orders by local Arab commanders, by
Arab governments or by the AHC, mostly for pre-invasion military
reasons. On 13 May the villages of Shu'fat, Beit Hanina, Al Jib, Judeira,
Beit Nabala and Rafat were evacuated at the command of the Arab
Legion. Issawiya, also in the Jerusalem area, was evacuated at AHC
command on 30 March. On 20 May the villagers of Ad Dahi, Nein,
Tamra, Kafr Misr, At Tira, Taiyiba and Na'ura, all in the Mount Gilboa
district, were ordered to leave by Arab irregular forces (who apparently
feared that the villagers intended to throw in their lot with the Yishuv),
and on 6 April, the AHC, probably for similar reasons, ordered the
evacuation of the Lower Galilee villages of Sirin, 'Ulam, Hadatha and
Ma’'dhar."?

Until the last week of April, the AHC and the Arab governments, at
least publicly, did not seem to be unduly perturbed by the exodus. Azzam
Pasha (Secretary General of the Arab League), to be sure, in April used
the flight and the massacre at Deir Yassin (see below) to drive home anti-
Zionist propaganda points, but there seems to have been no feeling that
something momentous was happening. The Arab states did nothing: they
acted neither to aggravate the exodus nor to stem it.'2

The AHC was probably driven by a set of contradictory interests. On
the one hand, its members — almost to a man out of Palestine by the end of
April — were unhappy at the sight of the steady dissolution of Palestinian
society and the uprooting of the villages. The exodus dashed their hopes
of a successful Palestinian resistance against the Yishuv. On the other
hand, led by the Mufti, they understood by late April that the Palestinian—
Yishuv battle was lost, and that now, all depended on intervention by the
Arab states. Amin al Husayni well knew the essential fickleness of the
Arab leaders, and understood that Egypt’s King Farouk, Transjordan’s
King Abdullah and Lebanon’s Prime Minister Riad Solh and the rest
were not overly eager to do battle with the Haganah on the Palestinians’
behalf. The bigger the tragedy in Palestine, the greater would be the
pressure — by public opinion at home, by the other states and by the
demands of Arab “honour’ — on these leaders to abide by their com-
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mitment to intervene. Nothing would bind them to their word like a great
tragedy. Moreover, the AHC was unhappy at the prospect of Arab
communities surrendering to Jewish arms and agreeing to live in peace
under Jewish rule. Probably pulled hither and thither by these contra-
dictory considerations, the AHC members seem to have preferred to do
and say nothing. During April, Amin al Husayni and the AHC remained
silent about the unfolding exodus.

Given the lack of clear direction from the Arab states and from the
AHGC, the burden of decision-making fell mainly on the shoulders of local
Palestinian leaders, both civil and military. It is largely to the local
leadership, therefore, that one must look for decision-making concerning
staying or leaving by this or that Arab community during April 1948.
Local leaders may have been motivated in part by what they thought the
AHC would want them to decide, as in Haifa on 22 April, but in general,
they were left to their own devices. Thus in cases where it was the Arab
decision-making element, rather than Jewish attack, that was important,
the pattern of behaviour was haphazard and idiosyncratic. The National
Committee in Jerusalem, for example, preferred to hold on and sit tight; it
repeatedly ordered the Arab population, on pain of punishments, to stay
put. On the other hand, in Jaffa, most of the National Committee
members fled during the fighting and none apparently acted to stem the
exodus.!3

However, the fall of Arab Haifa on 21—22 April and the subsequent
mass exodus of its inhabitants, the previous evacuation of Arab Tiberias,
and the start of the exodus from Jaffa, atlast sounded the alarm in the Arab
capitals. The exodus was becoming massive, and the Arab states would be
burdened with a giant problem if the tide was not turned. Already in late
April Haganah officers noted that Abdullah was pressing the refugee
bedouin of the Beit Shean (Beisan) Valley to cross the Jordan and go back
to their homes.!*

In early May, the Arab states neighbouring Palestine, spearheaded by
Transjordan and the ALA, launched a public campaign to stem the
outflow of refugees from Palestine and to induce those who had fled to
return. Again, the policy was uncoordinated and the communications
poor and often inconsistent, but its thrust was clear. Orders went out to
. thelocal irregulars’ commanders and mukhtars to bar flight. In Kafr Saba,
the locals, under threat of Haganah attack, wanted to leave, but were
ordered to stay by the ALA garrison.*s According to Haganah sources, the
ALA, with the population of Ramallah about to take flight, blocked all
roads into the Triangle: “The Arab military leaders are trying to stem the
flood of refugees and are taking stern and ruthless measures against
them.”” Arab radio broadcasts, picked up by the Haganah, conveyed
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orders from the ALA to all Arabs who had left their homes to “‘return
within three days. The commander of Ramallah assembled the mukhrars
from the area” and demanded that they strengthen morale in their
villages. The local ALA commanders turned back trucks which were
coming to take families out of Ramallah.'® Qawugji threatened that the
homes of villagers who left would be blown up and their lands would be
confiscated. Haganah intelligence on 6 May reported that ‘“Radio
Jerusalem in its Arabic broadcast (14:00 hours, § May) and Damascus
[Radio] (19:45 hours, § May) announced in the name of the Supreme
Headquarters: ‘Every Arab must defend his home and property . .. Those
who leave their places will be punished and their homes will be destroyed.’
The announcement was signed [by] Qawuk;ji.’’'” Haganah Radio related
that ““in an endeavour to put a stop to the flight of Arabs from towns and
villages, the Arab command has issued a statement warning all Arabs that
from now on they are expected to guard their own houses and property . . .
Any Arab leaving his place of residence will be severely punished.”’!® In
the south, some of the inhabitants of Beit Daras, fleeing their homes after a
Haganah attack, were sent back by the Arab military command in
Majdal.*®

Over s-15 May, Abdullah, the AHC, the National Committees and
Azzam Pasha in semi-coordinated fashion issued a series of announce-
ments designed to halt the flight and to induce the refugees to return to
their homes. A special appeal to return home, which was also promoted by
the British Mandate authorities, was directed at the refugees from Haifa.
The various National Committees issued bans on flight. The Ramle
National Committee set up pickets at the exits to the town to prevent
Arabs departing. The inhabitants of the villages east of Majdal (Beit
Daras, the Sawafirs, etc.) were warned not to abandon their homes and the
pickets in Majdal and Gaza were warned not to allow them in with their
belongings. On 15 May, Faiz Idrisi, the AHC’s “inspector for public
safety,”” issued orders to Palestinian militiamen to help the invading Arab
armies and to fight against ““the Fifth Column and the rumour-mongers,
who are causing the flight of the Arab population.”” On 10-11 May, the
AHC called on officials, doctors and engineers who had left the country to
return and on 14-15 May, repeating the call, warned that officials who did
not return would lose their “moral right to hold these administrative jobs
in the future.”” Arab governments began to bar entry to the refugees — as
happened, for example, on the Lebanese border in the middle of May.?°
By the end of May, with the Arab armies fully committed, the Arab states
and the AHC put pressure on the refugee communities encamped along
Palestine’s frontiers to go home. According to monitored Arab broad-
casts, the AHC was arguing that ‘“‘most of the [abandoned] villages had
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been made safe thanks to Arab victories.”” Jamal Husayni, a key AHC
member, pressed for the return of the refugees.?!

However, the sudden pan-Arab concern in the first half of May that the
Arabs remain in Palestine or, if in exile, return to their homes, came too
late and perhaps was not expressed forcefully enough. Concern was not
translated into effective policy nor given executive teeth. Having failed to
halt the mass exodus ab initio, the Arab states proved powerless to
neutralise its momentum, let alone reverse the process in the following
weeks. In any case, the refugee flood of late May and early June was
relatively unimportant for the Arab leaders, who were preoccupied in-
stead with the generally poor performance of their armies in Palestine,
with inter-Arab political feuding and with the anti-Zionist diplomatic
struggle at the United Nations, in London and in Washington. By mid-
June, when the First Truce took effect, and the Arab states were able to
turn attention to the refugee problem, conditions in the field had radically
changed. The borders had become continuous front lines with free-fire
zones separating the opposing armies, and the victorious Yishuv was
resolved to bar a return. Thus, the pressure by some of the Arab countries
to push the refugees back across the borders, reported by IDF intelligence
in early June, had little effect.??

To understand what happened over April-May 1948, when the major
wave of the Palestinian exodus took place, it is necessary to examine in
detail what occurred in the field. To describe and analyse what happened
in every operation and area would be repetitive and, ultimately, confus-
ing. I shall therefore focus on the cities and main towns and on key areas of
the countryside.

The cities

Tiberias The first Arab urban community to fall was that of Tiberias, the
mixed Jewish—Arab town on the western shore of the Sea of Galilee, which
sat astride the north—south road linking the Jewish settlements in the
Galilee panhandle with those in the lower Jordan Valley.

Intermittent sniping started in early February, souring the tradition-
ally peaceful relations between the city’s 6,000 Jews and 4,000 Arabs, who
were concentrated in the downtown Old City area. Arabs began sending
their families to safer areas, and Jews began to leave the Old City for the
larger Jewish districts.?* At the beginning of March, a Haganah raid
precipitated the evacuation of the Arab village of Al Manara, two-and-a-
halfkilometres south of Tiberias.?* A few days later, Arab—Jewish sniping
was renewed. It ended in a local agreement between Jewish and Arab
notables, which received the blessing of Haganah chief Israel Galili: “It’s
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good that you’ve done this,” he told the Tiberias Jewish notables who
came to him, “because we have plenty of fronts and we would rather not
spread ourselves [too thin].”’?*

The shooting in and around the Old City was renewed on 8 April. The
large British force in the town tried to make peace but failed. On 12 April,
a Haganah force captured the village of Khirbet Nasir ad Din and the
Sheikh Qaddumi hilltop above it, overlooking Tiberias, cutting the city
off from Lubiya, the major Arab centre to the west. Some non-
combatants were apparently killed and some houses destroyed. Most of
the population fled to Lubiya or to Tiberias, from where British troops
evacuated them to Lubiya. Several dozen villagers remained x sizu. The
arrival of the Khirbet Nasir ad Din refugees probably helped to under-
mine the morale of the Arabs of Tiberias.?®

The Haganah decided to pacify Arab Tiberias. On the night of 16—17
April, units of the Golani Brigade and the Palmah’s 3rd Battalion attacked
the Old City, using mortars and dynamite, and blowing up eight houses.
The attack caused ‘‘great panic’” among the Arab inhabitants. Arab
notables apparently sued for a truce but the Haganah commanders
refused to negotiate; they wanted a surrender.?” The Arabs then appealed
to the British to lift the Haganah siege on the Old City and to extend their
protection to the Arab areas. At the same time, they asked the ALA
contingent to withdraw from the town.?® The British, however, said they
intended to evacuate the city within a few days and hence could offer no
protection to the Arabs beyond 22 April. The Arab notables then decided,
perhaps with British prompting, to evacuate the city with British help.
The British governor subsequently called in the Jewish representatives
and informed them that they would be leaving in a few days, that they were
unwilling to guarantee the Arabs’ safety after their departure and that “in
order toassure the Arabs’ safety, ithad been decided to evacuate the Arabs
from the town.”’?® According to the ranking Jewish representative, Moshe
Tzahar, the news of the Arab evacuation came to him as a “‘shock.”” He was
unable to consult with the Haganah in Tel Aviv as the telephone lines were
down. According to his recollection, he protested to the military governor
against the evacuation but the British ‘““did not relent.” Tzahar then asked
that the governor summon the Arab leaders so that he could argue with
them against the decision. The governor answered: ““There are no longer
leaders [here]. They have fled. There is a population without leadership.”
A truce was instituted. The British then brought up buses and trucks, the
Arabs got on and the buses, under British escort, took them to Nazareth
and Transjordan. “There is a chance,” reported the 3rd Battalion on
18 April, “‘that Tiberias tomorrow will be empty of Arabs.”” The Golani
and 3rd Battalion troops had not been ordered to expel the inhabitants of
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Tiberias, nor had they done so. Indeed, they had not expected the civilian
population to evacuate the town. At the same time, once the decision to
evacuate had been taken and once the evacuation was in progress, at no
point did the Haganah act to stop it, or in any way indi<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>